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Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
Annual Report for Year Ended December 31, 2006

Dear Investor:

The following annual report provides you with 2006 audited financials and
the results of operations for your investment in Boston Capital Real Estate
Investment Trust, Inc. (Boston Capital REIT). We are pleased to report that
we entered 2006 positioned to benefit from prevailing market conditions.
Currently, the Boston Capital REIT portfolio consists of 11 properties
across 5 states, with a total purchase price and development cost of more
than $205.6 million.

The Boston Capital REIT portfolio of properties had a successful 2006,
with improved operations over 2005 at every property. Occupancy, led by
the strength of the Pacific Northwest markets, averaged in the mid to upper
90% range for most of the year. In addition, management was able to take
advantage of improving marketplace conditions and increase effective rents
throughout the year. Rental increases were achieved through the selective
reduction of leasing specials, combined with increases in rental rates.

We are excited to enter 2007 with our portfolio positioned positively. Our
goals continue to be to pay cash distributions to our investors and achieve
long-term capital appreciation through increasing portfolio value.

As always, we would like to thank you for your confidence in Boston
Capital REIT and for giving us the opportunity to serve you. Our goal is to
develop growth for our shareholders while also offering the highest level of
service available. Should you have any questions regarding your Boston
Capital REIT investment, please call our Investor Services Department at
800-955-2733.

Sincerely,

Jeffrey Goldstein
President
Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
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‘. PARTI . ,
Item1. Busi'negs's S . - . . .

Business History Coe ) .

Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc., a Maryland
corporation, was formed on May 2, 2003 and commenced operations on
May 15; 2003. We are a real estate company engaged in the acquisition,
ownership, management, and operation of apartment communities in the
United States. We have made an election to be treated as a real estate -
investment trust, or REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as
amended, beginning with the tax vear ended December 31, 2005. Our
objective is to generate stable and increasing cash flow.and asset value by
managing apartment communities in the United States. To date we have
acquired interests in 11 properties consisting of 3,098 units and comprising
approximately 2,713,000 square feet located in Washington, Oregon, Utah,
Florida and Texas, which are more fully-described in Item 2. We acquired
interests in our ten initial properties in May 2003 through borrowings under
our former line of credit with an affiliate. In.September 2005, we acquired .
our ¢leventh property, the Plano community, through a loan with an,
unaffiliated lender. Both of these loans were repaid in December 2006 with
a combination of equity raised and an initial borrowing of approximately -
$41.0 million under our current line of credit, and the related liens on our
interests in our eléven properties were released. On December 6, 2006, we
entered into a credit agreement with an unaffiliated lender that provided us
with an unsecured credit facility of up to $45 million, which we refer to as
our current line of credit, of which approximately $27.2 million was
outstanding as of March 22, 2007. At December 31 2006 the propertles
were 92.2% leased. .

We were initially capitalized by offering 20,000 shares of $.001 par
value common stock to Boston Capital Companion Limited Partnership, an
affiliated entity. The offer price of $10.00 per share resulted in gross |
proceeds of $200,000. In January 2006, we issued 173 shares of 12.0%
Series A Cumulative Non- Votmg Prefetred Stock. All of our outstandmg
preferred stock shares were redeemed on February 15, 2007.

Our mterest in each apartment community (or, where approprlate
each related group of communities) is owned by a limited hablhty company
or other entlty wholly owned by us. The apartment communities themselves
are’ owned by subsidiaries of limited liability compames in which our
sub51d1ary-owner companies own the eqmty interest and in which




unaffiliated third parties have a subordinated economic interest. All of the
communities that we have acquired interests in to date are encumbered by
permanent mortgage indebtedness which will not be repaid from the
proceeds of the offering. After we have repaid or refinanced the initial
borrowing under our current line of credit, we intend to acquire interests in
additional communities.

In February 2007, our board of directors approved a plan to restructure
the manner in which we hold our assets, by converting to what is commonly
referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To
effect the UPREIT restructuring, we plan to form a new directly and
indirectly wholly-owned partnership, which we refer to as the operating
partnership, which following the restructuring will hold substantially all of
our assets and liabilities, including the assumption of the obligations under
our current line of credit. After the consummation of the UPREIT
restructuring, we anticipate that we will own, either directly or indirectly, all
of the general partnership interests and limited partnership interests of our
operating partnership. In-the future, we may issue limited partnership units
to third parties from time to time in connection with acquisitions of -
apartment communities. Following the UPREIT restructuring, substantially
all of our business will be conducted through the ‘operating partnership and.
our pnmary asset will be our interests in the operatmg partnershlp

The UPREIT restructuring is contlngent on our ability to secure
consenis from third party lenders and others with whom we have
contractual relatlonshlps Although we believe that we will be able to obtain
all necessary consents and approvals for the UPREIT .restructuring, the
grant of those consents and approvals is not in our control and ‘therefore
there can be no assurance that the UPREIT restmcrurmg will be
completed. '
Line of Credit ™ : o Cor

*

On December 6 2006 we entered into a credit agreement with !
Wachovia, Bank National Association that provided us with an unsecured
credit fac:hty of up to $45 million, which we refer to as our current line of
credit, of which approxrmately $27.21s outstandmg as of March 22, 2007.

We used approxnnately $41.0 million of the proceeds of our current
line of credit to repay existing indebtedness related to (1) our former line of
credit under which we ‘borrowed the approximately $56.6 million, invested in
our initial teh communities from an affiliate, BCP Fundmg, Inc. and which
was secured by our interests in those communities and (2) a loan from




Wachovia Bank, National Association under which we borrowed
approximately $5.6 million to fund a portlon of the purchase price of our
Plano community, which we refer to as the Plano loan. Simultaneous with
the closing of our current credit fac111ty with Wachovia Bank National ~
Association on December 6, 2006, wé borrowed approximately $41.0 million
under the credit faelhty, the initial borrowmg, and contributed
approximately $22.0 million of equity and other avallable REIT funds '
which, in cornblnatlon were utilized to repay the full amount of the debt
outstandmg under our former line of credit and the Plano loan In '
connection with the repayment of our former line of crédit, the liens on our
interests in our initial ten communities securing the former line of credlt
were feleased. Of the $27.2 million outstanding under our current line of
credit as of March 22, 2007, all of such balance is related to our initial ©
borrowing under our current line of credit. Unlike our former line of credlt
borrowings under our current line of credit will not bé secured by our

interests in Aany of the eleven properties currently owned by us. -

- Until the repayment of our initial borrowing under our current line of ..
credit, the terms of our credit agreement restrict us from paying a dividend
to our stockholders in excess of 6% per annum (if authorized by our board
of directors and provided that there is no event of default under our credit
agreement). Thereafter, there is no dividend restriction so’long-as no event.
of default exists under the credit agreement: In addition, we are obligated
to utilize all net proceeds received from the offering to repay our initial
borrowing under our current line of credit after the.payment of (i) amounts
necessary.to pay a maximum dividend of 6% per annum (if authorized by
our board of directors), (ii) costs necessary to maintain our REIT status, -
(1ii) reasonable-operating reserves and (iv) the asset management fee -
payable monthly to our advisor. This requlrement may limit our. ability to -
acqlnre new properties. '

Subsequcnt to our repayment of our 1n1tlal borrowings under our
current line of credit, the credit facility will:convert into a revolving,
acquisition line of credit and may then be utilized by us (i) to fund future-
acquisitions; (ii) to fund capital needs associated with our existing real *
estate-portfolio, (iii) for.the issuance of letters of credit on our behalf; and -
(iv) for general working capital purposes. After the conversion to the -
acquisition line of credit, advances under the credit facility must be repaid
within ninety days. In the event an advance is not repaid within the ninety-
day period, availability under the credit facility will-be eliminated, and we .
will have six.months to fully repay any amount outstanding. -




Our Initial Public Offering .- * P ST

'We have filed a Reglstranon Statement on Form S-11 (the
“Reglstratlon Statement”) and the related prospectus ‘as amended and
supplemented (the “Prospectus”) with the Séciiritics and Exchange
Cémmission that becanie effective June 22, 2005 in connection with our |
initial public offenng We refer to ouf mmal publrc offermg as “the
offering.” Until subscnptrons aggregating at least $2 5 m1lhon were
received and’ accepted by us, all subscrrptlon proceeds were placed in ~
ESCIOW pursuant to,thé terms of an escrow agreement with Boston Private
Bank and Trust Company. On June 29, 2006 havmg exceeded this_
“minimum offermg condrtlon we had an initial closmg of' the offermg and
admltted our initial subscrlbers as stockholders When the offering )
commenced, we offered 100, 000,000 shares of our comrnon stock under the
primary offering and an addmonal 5, 000 000 sharés of our comimon stock
under our distribution relnvestment plan Stibsequently, we reallocated
7,500,000 shares of cammon stick being offeréd between the primary
offering and the distribution reinvestment plan. Qur board of directors has
authorized-a reallocation of shares being offered under.the primary offering
and the distribution reinvestment plan under which we plan.to-offer - ..
925,000,000 shares'of 6ur common stock at a purchase price of $10.00 per «
share and an additional 12,500,000 million shares at $9.50 per share-under
our distribution reinvestment plan.-We are offering these shares pursuant to
a registration statement on Form S-11, which:was initially declared efféctive
by the Securities and Exchange Commission-6n:June.22, 2005. Since the
commencement of the offering, we have accepted investors’ subscriptions
received through March 22, 2007, and issued approximately 4,958,578
shares of our common stock to stockholders, with gross proceeds of - .
approximately $49.6 million distributed to us: In-addition, we-issued -
approximately 45,410 shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment. |
program }vith gross proceeds of approximately $3454,1Q4‘distribut.ed to us.

We will.admit stockholders to our company; and release investor.funds
from escrow, as soon as practicable. Subscriptions may not be withdrawn by
purchasers..Interest will only be carned by investors on Subscription +
proceeds held in escrow longer.than twenty (20) calendar days. Any interest
earned on subscription proceeds.held in escrow less than such period will be
paid to us and we will use such amounts for working capital. All interest
distributions, if due, will be made within 75.days of the end of the fiscal
quartér following the relevant closing date. The current interest rate is
3.75%, but the rate can adjust similar to a bank passbook savings rate. The .
dealer-manager will not purchase any of our shares.




2006 Highlights S - N
During 2006, we completed the following key transactions:

o We issued epproxlmatelif 3,661,606 shares of ouf c’ommon stock
{inclusive of dlstnbutlon reinvestments) resulting in gross proceeds
to us of approxsmately $36.6 million;

s "On December 6, 2006 we entered into our current line of credit
agreement with Wachovia Bank, National Association that provided
us with an unsecured credit facility of up to $45 million, of which
$38.1 million was outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and $27.2 - -

. million, was eptstandipg as of March 22, 20()7:; and

s In December 2006, we repaid principal and interest outstanding
under our former line of credit with an affiliate, which was secured
by our interests'in our initial properties, and, a'loan with Wachovia
Bank, National Association with respect to our Plano commuaity.
Both of these loans were repaid with a coimbination of equity raised -
under the offermg and mmal borrowmgs under our current line of
credlt :

‘i .. P . * * i

The Advisor and the Dealer-Manager B

Qur day-to-day activities are managed by Boston Capltal REIT
Advisors, LLC, one of our affiliates and our advisor under the terms and
conditions of an advisory agreement. Among other things, the advisor is
responsible for identifying and conducting, subject to the approval of our
board of directors, acquisitions on our behalf. The dealer-manager of the
offering is Boston Capital Securities, Inc., our affiliate and an affiliate of the
advisor, Boston Capital REIT Advisors, 'LLC, is wholly owned by Boston
Capital Holdings Limited Parthership. John P. Manning, our Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, is the general partner of and owns a controlling
limited partnership interest in Boston Capital Holdings Limited
Partnership. Certain of our officers and directors are also officers of the
advisor and/or officers, directors and registered principals of the dealer-
manager. '

f . . + . o1

Employees : . Co .

We have no direct employees The employees of our advisor and
dealer-manager and other affiliates of ours perform a full range of real
estate services for us, including acquisitions, property management,




accounting, legal, asset management, wholesale brokerage and investor
relations services.

'

We are dependent on afﬁhates of our adv1sor for services that are
essential to us, including the sale of shares of our common stock, asset
acquisition decisions, property management and other general
administrative responsibilities. In the event that these companies were
unable to provide these services to us, we-would be required to obtain such
services from other sources. K . ‘

Busmess and Busmess*Strategtes

Our business objective is to generate stable and increasing cash flow
and asset value by managing apartment communities in the United States,
typically garden apartments and select mid-rise properties of 150°or more
rental units that are located in suburban or metropolitan areas. Our policy
is to acquire assets primarily for current income generation. Some of the
properties that we own and in which we intend to invest are apartment
communities which our advisor believes are undervalued mainly because of
deferred maintenance or renovations which the seller has not performed.
For any such communities, we will need to raise sufficient funds to make
any such deferred maintenance or renovations.'In addition, we invest in
properties located in markets which offer favorable value and growth
prospects. In general, our investment objectives are to:

« provide regular monthly cash distributions, as well as provide growth
in distributions over time; . . | _ -

e increase our value through increases in the cash flows and values of
our apartment communities; and

e preserve and protect the value of our interest in our communities
“and secondarily achieve long-term capital appreciation.

The a(_:hie\jement of these objectives is not guaranieed.

Property Selection

When making investments in apartment communities, our advisor
considers relevant real property and financial factors, including the
condition and location of the community, its income-producing capacity ‘and
the prospects for its long-term apprecnatlon The proper location, design
and amenities are important to the success of a community. Apartment
communities under consideration are first subjected to a comprehensive




due diligence review. In selecting specific communities, the advisor, as
approved by our board of directors, applies the fol]()wmg minimum
‘standards:

o The apartment commumty is in what the advisor considers to be a
quality market area within locations that provnde stability and up51de
potentlal S . .

* We w1ll endeavor to maintain an aggregate mortgage mdebtedness
on our communities totaling between 55% and 65% but in ‘any event
not more than 70% of our gross asset valug, but this is not a
limitation.on-the amount of mortgage indebtedness on any one

.community ‘acquired, and there.are no limitations in our
organizational documents regarding the amount of mortgage and
other borrowings on our communities: The aggregate amount of our

_mdebtednese outstandmg at any time, however, may not exceed
’300% of our net assets. For these purposes “gross asset valug”
means the total purchase pnce of our propertles including property-
level acqutsltlon ‘costs, closmg costs and reserves, company-level
acquisition fees, company-level capitalized expenses and company-
level reserves or the value reported in the most recént appraisal of
the properties, whichever is later, and “net asset-value” means our
total assets, other than intangibles, at cost before deducting
depreciation or other non-cash reserves less our total liabilities,

..calculated at least quarterly on a basis consistently applied.

o For commumtles acqulred before the minimum offermg of $2.5
" million was raised, the communities have 18 months of stable
- operations; following such period, we expect that at least 90% of the
. -communities will meet this stan‘dard S e

The followmg describes the factors the advisor considers when
decndmg whether to invest in an apartment commumty

s Location considerations include characteristics-of the surroundmg
area and the suitability of the neighborhood services and amenities
available to the resident base. The advisor considers accessibility to
the community by both public and private transportation, and its
visibility and curb appeal to prospectwe resxdents Property
_considerations include physu:al aspects of the property, its condition,
quallty of design’ and matertals and its amenmes

 » The market area is characterized-as having current and long-term
‘suitable demographic and economic conditions. The advisor




considers supply and demand factors and determines whether the
capture rates in the primary and secondary market areas are within
appropriate standards for the resident base. The advisor also
considers the competitive advantage of the Commumty as compared
with competing properties in ‘the same market area.

o In its determination of the stability of the communities’ operations,
~ the advisor considers the potential impact of rent growth, turnover,
rent discounts, concessions and other factors that exist or may exist

" inthe competltlve environment.

¢ The community must be-in a market area possessing attractive
investment attributes, including income growth, stability and upside
associated with improving market fundamentals and/or value added
through renovation or repositioning of the property. o

¢ The advisor must determine, through third-party environmental and
engineering assessmcnts that the property is not subject to any
recognized enwronmental or physical conditions or deférred’
maintenance costs that would impact the future operatlons
marketablllty or salability of the property.

+ The community’s management team, including any potential joint
venture partners, must demonstrate substantial experience, where
applicable, in the design, development and management of market
rate apartment communities. The advisor considers each individual’s
or entity’s current financial position, past financial performance and
performs credit checks, background checks and reference reviews.

« Communitics will not be acquired from the advisor or any of its
affiliates unless a majority of the independent directors approve the
transaction as being fair and reasonable to us and at a price no
greater than the cost of the asset to such advisor or affiliate, or if the
price is in excess of such cost, that substantial justification for such
excess exists and such excess is reasonable. :

Financing P

We will use the proceeds from the offermg to repay our initial
borrowing under our current line of credit. After the initial borrowing
under our current line of credit has been rcpald or refinanced, we will
pursue one or both of two alternatives for acquiring interests in additional
communities. One, our board of directors may determine to establish one
or more new lines of credit to be used to purchase interests in additional




communities and to repay those borrowings as sufficient funds are raised
from the sale of additional shares. If our board determines to repeat this

be secured by our mterests in all of our communities. Alternatively, our
board may determme 10 acquire additional interests in communities as,
sufficient funds are raised. In this alternative, no funds would have to be
borrowed under any line of credit to acquire interests in communities.
Whichever alternative is used, our board of directors anticipates that every
community we invest in'will be encumbered by mortgage indebtedness, that
the aggregate amount of the mortgage indebtedness on our communities
that are no longer (or have not been} financed with our current line of
credit or any replacemenit line of credit is projected to be within the
targeted range of 55% to 65% but in any event will not be more than 70%
of the gross asset value of those communities. Gross asset value means the’
total purchase price of our properties, including property-level acquisition
costs, closing costs and reserves, company-level acquisition fees, company-
level capitalized expenses and company-level reserves or the value reported
in the most recent appraisal of the properties, whichever is later. However,
we have no limitations in our organizational documents regarding the

the aggregate amount of our indebtedness outstanding at any time may not
exceed 300%.of our net assets. Net assets means our total assets, other than
intangibles, at cost before deducting depreciation or othér non-cash
reserves less our total liabilities, calculated at least quarterly on a basis
consistently applied. Any borrowings in excess of this 300% level will be
approved by a majority of our independent directors and disclosed to our’
stockholders in our next quarterly report along with a JUStlflCﬂthIl for such
eXCess.

v '

Property Managemént

-

The selection.of property managers by our advisor, as approved by our
board of directors, will be based on management capability. We intend to
enter into property management agreements only with managers having
substantial prior experience in the operation of apartment communities,

We plan to engage property managers that are not affiliated with our
company or our advisor, The managers of the communities we currently
own interests in meet these criteria. All of our current property
management agreements are the result of arm’s-length negotiations.

o

borrowing and repayment process, it is possible that any new borrowing will'

amount of mortgage and other borrowings on our communities, other than .

who may also manage competing communities in the same geographic area.




Typically, a wholly owned subsidiary of our company owns limited.
liability company interests (representing all of the equity) in a limited
liability company (LLC) that owns, through wholly owned subsidiaries, a
group of apartment communities, The manager of the LLC that owns
apartment communities through wholly owned subsidiaries is typlcally an
affiliate of the property manager, and typically has a small economic
interest in the LLC. We have the right to remove and replace the LLC -
manager at any time without cause. We believe that this arrangement,-along
with the right to a portion of net sale proceeds from the dlsposmon of an
asset after certain benchmark payments have been made to us, is an
appropriate incentive to encourage performance by the manager of the
LLC. Reports are provided by the property manager to our advisor for
review on request or at a minimum on a monthly basis.

Distributions

In order to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must
currently distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our
stockholders. We intend, although we are not legally obligated, to authorize
distributions monthly and pay distributions monthly during the offering
period and thereafter. However, our board of directors, in its sole :
discretion, may determine to authorize or pay distributions on another
basis. Any distributions we make, however, will be at the discretion of our
board of directors, in accordance with our earnings, cash flow; capital needs
and general financing condition. Until the repayment of our initial
borrowing under our current line of credit, the terms of our credit
agreement restrict us from paying a dividend to our stockholders in excess
of 6% per annum (if authorized by our board of directors and provided that
there is no event of default under our credit agreement).

DlSU’IbU[lODS will be made to those holders of our common stock as of
daily record dates selected by our board of directors so that investors are
entitled to be paid distributions on the day they purchase shares. We expect
to initially make distributions that include a return of capital.

Since we began operations, our board of directors has declared
distributions to our common qrockholders as summarized below;

Annualized Percentage Return
Appmximale Amount Per Share  Assuming $10.00 Per Share

Period . . . Rounded Purchase Price(l)
Fiscal Year 2006 3566 6.0%
First Qtr 2007 .. 1463 - 6.0%

(1) The average weighted share price may be lower than $10.00 per share,
and the individual percentage return may be greater than 6.0%, as a
result of shares purchased through our distribution reinvestment plan
at less than $10.00 per share.

10




Insurance . : N T

We.believe that our p.r‘oper'tieé‘ areadcquate]y insured.

Tax Status

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860
of the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the tax year ended
December 31, 2005. We believe that we are organized in conformity with
the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue
Code, and that our manner of operation will enable cur company to meet
the requirements-for taxation as a REIT for federal income tax purposes,
but cannot assure you that we will meet such requirements. To maintain
REIT status, we must meet a number of organizational and operational
requirements, including a requirement that we currently distribute at least
90% of our REIT taxable.income to our stockholders. As a REIT, we
generally will not-be subject to federal income tax on REIT taxable income
we distribute currently to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in
any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax at regular
corporate rates. Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, we may be
subject to some federal, state and local taxes on our income and property.

Competitiort‘. i

We have acquired and intend to acquire interests-in apartment
communities in the United States wherever suitable communities are . -
identified by our advisor. We will compete with many other REITs; real .
estate partnerships, real estate operating companies and other investors,
including banks and insurance companies, many of which will have greater
financial resources than we do, in the acquisition and operation of
apartment communities. All of our apartment communities will be located
in developed areas that include other multlfamlly residential properties.
The number of competitive propertles in a particular area could have a
material effect on our ablhty to lease units at our apartment communitics
and on the rents charged at the properties. While there are no dommant
competitors in the industry, the market for acquiring apartment
communities in the United States is extensive and local i in nature. We may
be competing with other entities that have greater resources than we do,
including several with national portfohos valued at billions of dollars, and
whose managers may have more experience than our managers. In addition,
other forms of housing, including manufactured housing community
properties and single-family housing provide alternatives to potential

i1




residents of multifamily residential properties. We seek to grow by ..
acquiring apartment communities in selected targeted markets. We intend
to compete for the acquisition of properties by identifying opportunities
that other competitors do not appreciate and by offering the highest
acquisition price possible within the parameters of our investment
objectives and policies. We cannot predict how successful we will be in
identifying and acquiring suitable apartment communities. In particular, we
seek opportunities to add value through renovation and rehabilitation -
projects. Our presence in metropolitan areas in Florida, Utah, Texas and
the northwest United States gives our initial portfolio geographic diversity
while providing us with a competitive advantage in identifying and o
competing for acquisition and development opportunities in those target
markets. We believe our management structure and our strategy of
employing seasoned local property managers will allow us to grow in both
our existing markets and in selected new markets without incurting
substantial additional costs. Our strategy of providing a subordinated . »
economic interest to established local operators also may give usa -
competitive advantage over buyers that may not provide such an incentive.-

Regulations. e : . S . T

Our investments, as well as any investments that we may make, are
subject to various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations
{including those of foreign jurisdictions), including, among other things,
zoning regulations, land use controls, environmental controls relating to air
and water quality, noise pollution and indirect environmental impacts such
as increased motor vehicle activity. We believe that we have all permits and
approvals necessary.under current law to operate our investments. .

agte Lt - A R

Environmental - - P : e .

As an owner of real estate we are subject to various environmental
laws of federal, State and local governments Compllance with existing laws
has not had a matenal adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations, and management does not believe it will have such an impact | in
the future. However, we cannot predict the impact of unforeseen o ’
environmental contingencies or new or changed laws or regulatlons on
properties in which we hold an interest, or on properties that may be
acquired drrectly 0r 1nd1rectly in the future

e : T R S X
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Fmancml Infonnatwn About Industry Segments ! A\

Our current busrness consrsts only of owning, managing, Qperatlng,
leasmg, acquiring, developlng, mvestlng in and disposing of real estate
assets. We internally evaluate all of our real estate assets ds one mdustry
segment, and, accordmgly, we do not report segment mforrnatron

-

Avarlable Information - ‘ ;0

We file various repdrts with the SEC, 1ncludlng Annual Reports' on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10- Q and Current Reports on.
From'8-K, which are available though the SEC’s electromc data gathering,
analysis and retrieval system (“EDGAR”) by accessmg the SEC’s home
page (hitp:/fwww.sec. gov) The documents are also available to be read or
copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, D.C., 20549. Information on the Public Reference Room may
be obtained by callmg the SECat 1 SOO—SEC 0330.

Item.1A. Risk Factors -

Presented below are certain factors we belleve are materlal to our
stockholders. You should be aware that there are various risks, mcludmg
those described below that in the future will, and in some cases, already do,
matenally affect us and our business, fmanc1al condition and results of
operations. You should carefully consider these factors. This section
includes or reﬂects certain forward-looking statements. You should read
the explanatlon of the quahflcatlon and limitations on such forward -looking
statements in this annual report on Form 10-K under Item 7.

“Management’ s Drscussmn and Analysis of Flnancral Condltlon and Results
of Operatlons

RISKS RELATED TO OUR PROPERTIES AND OUR BUSINESS

We may incur substantial debt. Borrawmg creates risks. that the offering proceeds
may be insufficient to pay or our cash Slow may be insufficient to meet our debt .
obligations,

We may borrow money 10 acquire interests in communities, to preserve
our status as a REIT, for payment of distributions to stockholders and for '
other corporate purposes. ‘Our board of directors anticipates that we will
obtain one or more lines of credit to provide financing for the acqursrtlon of
interests in communities to the extent we have not yet raised sufficient
offering proceeds. Loans we obtain in the future may be secured by some of
our properties, which would put those properties at risk of forfeiture if we
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were unable to pay our debts and could hinder our.ability to make :
distributions to our stockholders in the event income on such properties, or
their value, falls. Prmmpal and interest payments on these future loans
would reduce the amoum of money availablé to pay dlstrlbutlons to our
investors,

Borrowmg may be risky if the cash flow from our real estate
investments is insufficient to meet our debt obligations. Further, if-our. .
leverage does not increase our profitability, we will have less cash available
for distributions. If we cross-collateralize our properties in order to provide
additional collateral to a ‘lender, we run the risk of losing a good-performing
property in the event that it is cross-collateralized with a poor-performing
property that causes us to default on our loan terms. Our board of directors
anticipates that every communlty we invest in will be encumbered by
mortgage indebtedness, that the aggregate amount of the mortgage
indebtedness on our communities that are no longer (or have not been)
financed with our former line of credit or any replacement line of credit is
projected to be within the targeted range of 55% to 65%, but in any event
will not be more than 70% of the gross asset value of those communities.
Gross asset value means the total purchase price of our properttes
including property-level vaUISltlon costs, closing costs and reserves,
company-level acqulsmon fees, company level capitalized expenses and
company-level reserves or the value reported in the most recent appraisal of
the properties, whichever is later. However, we have no limitations in our -
organizational documents regarding the amount of mortgage and other
borrowings on our communities, other than that the aggregate amount of
our indebtedness outstanding at any time may not exceed’ 300% of our net
assets. Net assets means our total assets, other than intangibles, at cost
before deducting depreciation or other non-cash reserves less our total
liabilities, calculated at least quarterly on a basis consistently applied. Any
borrowings in excess of this 300% level will be approved by a majority of
our independent directors and disclosed to our stockholders in our next .
quarterly report, along with a justification for such excess. We currently -
have an unsecured line of credit with Wachovia Bank, National Association
under which we have made an initial borrowing of approximately $41
million, which was used to pay off a portion of our former line of credit in
December 2006. Our communities are also currently encumbered by
mortgage debt, and we expect any additional properties we acquire interests
in to be similarly encumbered. . )
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Interest only indebtedness may increase our risk of default and ultimately may
reduce our funds available for distribution to our stockholders.

We have and may in the future finance our property acquisitions using
interest'only mortgage indebtedness. During the interest only period, the
amount of each scheduled payment will be less than that of a traditional
amortizing mortgage loan. The principal balance of the mortgage loan will
not be reduced {except in the case of prepayments) because there are no
scheduleéd monthly payments of principal during this period. After the
interest only period, we will be required either to make scheduled payments
of 4mortized principal and interest or to make : a lump-sum or “balloon”
payment at maturity. Thesc required principal or balloon payments will
increase the amount of our scheduled payments and may increase our risk
of default under the related mortgage loan. If the mortgage loan has an
adjustable interest rate, the amount of our scheduled payments also may
increase at a time of rising interest rates. Increased payments and '
substantial principal or balloon maturity payments will reduce the funds
available for distribution to our stockholders because cash otherwise -
available for distribution will be required to pay principal and interest
associated with these mortgage loans. For more information regarding the
mortgages secured by our communities see the “Business ancl Properties”
section of this prospectus.

Increases in interest rates could increase the amourit of our debt payments and
adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We may borrow money that bears interest at a variable rate. In
addition, from time to time we may pay mortgage loans or refinance our
properties in a rising interest rate environment. Accordingly, increases in
interest rates could increase our interest costs, which could have a material
adverse effect on our operating cash flow and our ability to make
distributions to you. In addition, if rising interest rates cause us to need
additional capital to repay indebtedness in accordance with its terms or
otherwise, we may be required to liquidate one or more of our investments
in properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum
return on the investments.

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating fo our
operations, which could limit our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.

In connection with obtaining financing, a lender could impose
restrictions on us that affect our ability to incur additional debt and our
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distribution and operating policies. In general, our loan agreements restrict:
our ability to encumber Or otherwise transfer our interest in the respective -
property without the prior consent of the lender. Loan documents we enter
into may contain other customary negative covenants that may limit our _
ability to further mortgage the property, dlscontmue insurance coverage,
replace our advisor or impose other limitations. Any such restriction or
limitation may have an adverse effect on our, operations. We have a credit
agreement with Wachovia Bank, Natlonal Association under which we have
made an initial borrowmg of approxlmately $41 million, which was used 1o
pay off our former line of credit.in December 2006. This unsecured credit .
facility contains operating and financial restrictions and covenants mcludmg
financial covenants that require us to meet aggregate debt (which includes
property level mortgage debt) to real estate value ratios as well as debt
service coverage ratios..Additionally, until the repayment of our initial
borrowing under our current line of credit, the terms of our credit
agreement restrict us from paying a dividend to our stockholders in excess
of 6% per anaum (if authorized by our board of directors dnd provided that
there is no event of default under our credit agreement). The operating and
financial restrictions and covenants in our credit agreement, as well as any
future financing agreements that we may enter into, may restrict our ability
to acquire additional communities, finance our operations or fully pursue
our business strategies. A breach of these covenants could result in a default
under the credit facility, which could cause all of the outstanding .
indebtedness under the credit facility to become 1mmedlately due and
payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit. Although
we believe that we are currently in compliance under this agreement, we
cannot assure you that a violation will not occur in future periods.

Adverse economic conditions and competition may impede our ability to renew
leases or re-lease units as leases expire and require us to undértake unbudgeted
capital improvements, which could harm our business and operating resulfs.

Adverse economic conditions.

If our communities'do not generate revenues sufficient to meet
operating expenses, including debt service and capital expenditures, our
income and results of operations will be significantly harmed. An apartment
community’s revenues and value may be adversely affected by the general
economic climate; the local economic climate; local real estate”
considerations (such as oversupply of or reduced demand for apartments);
the perception by prospective residents of the safety, convenience and -
attractiveness of the communities or neighborhoods in which our properties

16




are locatéd and the quality of local schools and other.amenities; and
increased:operating costs (including real estate taxes and utilities). Certain
significant fixed expenses are generally not reduced when circumstances
cause a reduction in income from the investment. Lo

Dependency on renlal mcome.

‘We will be dependent on rental income to pay operatmg expenses and
to generate cash to enable us to make distributions to our stockholders. If
we are unable to attract and retain residents or if our residents are unable, .
due to an adverse change’in the economic condition of a particular region =
or otherwise, to pay their rental obligations, our ability to make expected-
distributions will be adversely affected.

Competition, - o

We will face competition from other properties of the same type within
the areas in which our apartment communities will be located.-Competition
from other properties may affect our ability to attract and retain residents,
to increase rental rates and to minimize expenses of operation. Virtually all.
of the leases for our apartment communities will be short-term leases
(generally, one year). Increased competition for residents may also require -
us to make capital improvements to apartment communities which we
would not have otherwise planned to make.-Any unbudgeted capital
improvements we undertake may divert cash that would otherwise be .
available for distributions to stockholders. Ultimately, to the extent we are .
unable to renew leases or re-lease apartment units as leases expire, it would
result in decreased cash flow.from residents and harm our operating resuits,

4

¥
Our debt covenants may restrict our operating activities, which may harm our
ﬁnancuzl condmon and operating resulls,

T
&

‘The mortgages on our communities contain and will contain customary
negative covenants such as those that limit the owner’s.ability, without the .
prior consent of the lender, to transfer interests or further mortgage the
applicable property or to discontinue insurance coverage. In addition, our
current line of credit contains customary restrictions, requirements and
other limitations on our ability to incur indebtedness, which we will have to
maintain. These include the requirement to provide financial statements
and information requested by the lender, and limit indebtedness to our .
current line of credit, property mortgages and indebtedness incurred for the
payment of taxes and governmental charges and for services and materials
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in the ordinary course of business. We must also obtain the lender’s consent
to the sale or refinancing of any assets pledged under our current line of -
credit, to any change in our control and to the placing of any lien on the _ -
pledged assets. . o : :

We may rely on borrowings under another line of credit to finance
capital improvement projects and for workmg capital, and if we are unable
to borrow under another line of credit ot to refinance existing indebtedness
our financial condition and results-of operations would likely be adversely
impacted. If we breach covenants in our debt agreements, the lender could
declare a default and require us to repay the debt immediately and, if the
debt is secured, could immediately take possessmn of the property securing
the loan. Lot .

Our working capital reserves may not be adeguate to cover all of our cash needs,
in which case we will have to obtain ﬁrumcmg from other sources.

Our working capital reserves are equal to 1% of the offering proceeds
and any additional operating reserves created at the operating level may not
be adequate to cover all of our cash needs. In order to cover those needs, -
we may have to obtain financing from either affiliated or unaffiliated .
sources. We cannot assure you that sufficient financing will be available or,
if available, will:be available on'economically feasible terms or on terms
acceptable to us. Additional bérrowings for working capital purposes will
increase our interest expense, and therefore may have a negatwe 1mpact on
our results of operatlons ae o B :
Our advisor may not be successﬁd in identifying suitable additional acquisitions
that meet our criteria.

Our advisor may not be successful in identifying additional su1table
apartment communities that meet our acquisition criteria or consummatmg .
additional acquisitions on satisfactory terms. Except for the investments
described in this annual report, you will have no opportunity to evaluate the
terms of transactions or other economic or financial data concerning our
investments. You must rely entirely on'the management ability of our
advisor and the oversight of our board of directors. Failures in identifying -
or consummating acquisitions could reduce the number of acquisitions we
complete, which-could in turn harm our ability to achieve our 1nvestment
Ob]ectwes and to pay distributions. . - :
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We face competition for the acquisition of apartment communities, which may
impede our ability to make future acquisitions or may increase the cost of
acquisitions.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate inv_esﬁhent
activities for acquisitions of apartment communities, including institutional
pension-funds, other REITSs and other owner-operators of apartments.
These competitors may have driven up the prices we have paid for the
interests in apartment communities we have acquired, and they may drive
up the prices we must pay for interests in apartment communities we seek
to acquire or may succeed in acquiring those assets themselves. In addition,
our potential acquisition targets may find our competitors to be more
attractive suitors because they may have greater resources, may be willing to
pay more or may have a more compatible operating philosophy. In .
particular, larger REITs may enjoy significant competitive advantages that
result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital, the ability to use
their listed shares and UPREIT structure as currency for acquisition, and
enhanced operating efficiencies. If we pay higher prices for communities,
our profitability will be reduced, and you may experience a lower return on
your investment.

We may have to make expedited decisions on whether to invest in certain
properties, including prior fo receipt of detailed information on the property.

Qur advisor and board of directors may be required to make expedited
decisions in order to effectively compete for the acquisition of properties
and other investments, Additionally, we may be required to make
substantial non-refundable deposits prior to completing our analysis and
due diligence on property acquisitions and the actual time period during
which we will be allowed to conduct due diligence may be limited. In these
cases, the information available to our advisor and board of directors at the
time of making any particular investment decision, including the decision to
pay any non-refundable deposit and the decision to consummate any
particular acquisition, may be limited, and our advisor and board of
directors may not have access to detailed information regarding any
particular investment property, such as physical characteristics,
environmental matters, zoning regulations or other local conditions
affecting the investment property. Therefore, no assurance can be given
that our advisor and board of directors will have knowledge of all
circumstances that may adversely affect an investment. In addition, our
advisor and board of directors expect to rely upon independent consultants
in connection with its evaluation of proposed investment properties, and no
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assurance can be given as to the accuracy or completeness of the
information provided by such independent consultants.

Rising operating expenses could reduce our cash ﬂow and funds available for
Juture dtstnbutmns. '

We bear all expenses. mcurred in our operatlons If any commumty s,
not fully occupied or if rents are being paid in an amount that is insufficient
to cover operating expense, then we could be required to expend funds for
that community’s operating expenses. The cominunities will be subject to - ;
increases in real estate and other tax rates, utility costs, operating expenses,
insurance costs, repairs and maintenance and administrative expenses. In
addition, our board of directors, in its discretion, may retain any portion of |
cash funds generated by operations for working capital. We cannot assure
you that sufficient cash wifl be available for distribution to you.

Renovation of properties may resull in increased costs and loss of income during
the renovation period. -

Currently some of the properties that we own are communities which
our advisor believes are undervalued mainly because of deferred
maintenance or renovations which the seller has not performed For similar
communities purchased in the future, we will need to raise sufficient funds
to make any such deferred maintenance or renovations. We will be subject
to risks relating to the contractor’s ability to control construction costs and
meet timetables. Performance may also be affected or delayed by conditions
beyond the contractor’s control. In some cases, tenants will have to be
relocated during the renovation. This will add to our costs. Delays in
completion of any renovations will add to these costs. Vacant units that are
being renovated usually cannot be rented to tenants and this will adversely -
affect our rental income. In addition, we will be subject to normal lease-up
risks for units which were not rented during renovation.

. Development and construction of properties may result in delays and increased .
costs and risks. )

While we have no present plans to do so, we may in the future invest in
the acquisition-of properties upon which we will develop and construct
apartment communities. We will be subject to risks relating to the builder’s
ability to control construction costs or to build in conformity with contract
terms, plans, specifications and timetables. The builder’s failure to perform-
may necessitate legal action by us to rescind the purchase or the
construction contract or to compel performance.-Performance may also be'-
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affected.or delayed by conditions beyond the builder’s control. Delays in
completion of construction could also give residents the right to terminate
preconstruction leases for apartments at a newly developed apartment
community. We may incur additional risks when we make periodic progress
payments or other advances to such builders prior to completion of
construction since the builder may default in completing the project for
which progress payments have been made. Factors such as these can result
in increased costs of a project or loss of our.investment. In addition, we wilt
be subject to normal lease-up risks relating to newly constructed projects.
Furthermore, we must rely upon projections of rental income and expenses
and estimates of the fair market value of property upon completion of
construction when agreeing upon a price to be paid for the property at the
time of acquisition of the property. if our prcgectlons are inaccurate, we
may pay too much for a property. . :

Discovery of previously undetected environmentally hazardous conditions and
physical defects may adversely affect our operating results.

Under.various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances
and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real property
may be liable for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic
substances on such property. Such laws often impose liability whether or not
the owner or'operator knew of, or-was responsible for, the presence of such.
hazardous or toxic substances. Environmental laws also may impose
restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or business may
be operated, and these restrictions may require expenditures.
Environmental laws provide for sanctions in the event of noncompliance
and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances,
by private parties. In connection with the acquisition and ownership of our
communities, we may be potentially liable for such costs. The cost of
defending against claims of lability, of compliance with environmental
regulatory requirements or of remediating any contaminated property could
materially adversely affect the business, assets or results of operations of
our company and, consequently, amounts available for distribution to you,
In addition, although we engage third parties to conduct engineering
assessments of properties we intend to acquire, we cannot -assure you that
these assessments will detect latent or patent physical defects affecting such
properties or accurately reflect the cost to repair or improve the property.
The unforeseen cost of repairing or improving a property could materially
adversely affect the business, assets or results of operations of our company
and, consequently, amounts available for distribution to you.
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Our apartment communities may contain or develop harmful mold,
which could lead to liability for adverse health effects and costs of
remediating the problem. When excessive moisture accumulates in-
buildings or on building materials, mold growth may occur, particularly if
the moisture problem remains undiscovered or is not addressed over a

- period of time-Some molds may produce airborné toxins or irritants.
Concern about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing, as exposure to
mold may cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms, including
allergic or other reactions. As a result, the presence of mold to which our
tenants or property managers or their employees could be exposed at any of
our properties could require us to-undertake a costly remediation program
to contain or remove the:mold from the affected property, which would
reduce our cash available for distribution. In addition, exposure to mold by
our tenants or others could expose us to liability if property damage or
health concerns arise.

We may face conflicts with sellers, partners and joint venturers. . .

- We may acquire communities from sellers that we will retain as
property managers and who typically will continue to own an equity or other
economic interest in the communities as the general partner or managing
member of the owner limited partnership or limited liability company. We
will own substantially all the equity interests in the:owner entities, with the
right to remove the general partner or managing member without cause.
While we have no present plans to do so, we may also enter into joint
ventures with other programs affiliated with us for the acquisition,
development or improvement of properties, and we may develop properties
in joint ventures or in partnerships or other co-ownership arrangements
with the sellers of the properties, affiliates of the sellers, developers or
other persons. These investments may involve risks not otherwise present
with an investment in real estate, including, for example: the possibility that
our co-venturer or partner in an investment might become bankrupt; that
such co-venturer or partner may at any time have economic or business
interests or goals which are or which become inconsistent with our business
interests or goals; or:that such co-venturer or partner may be in a position
to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our -
policies or objectives. Actions by a co-venturer or partner might have the
result of subjecting the property to liabilities in excess of those
contemplated and may have the effect of reducing your returns. Under
certain joint venture agreements, neither co-venturer may have the power
to control the venture, and an impasse could be reached regarding matters
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pertaining to the joint venture, which might have a negative influence on
the joint venture and decrease potential returns to you. We may face certain
additional risks and potential conflicts of interest in the event we enter into
joint ventures. For example, the co-venturer may never have an active.
trading market for its equity interests. Therefore, if we become listed on a
national securities exchange or on the NASDAQ Global Market, we may
no longer have similar goals and objectives with respect to the resale of
properties in the future. In addition, in the event that-we are not listed on a
national.securities exchange or on the NASDAQ Global Market by June 22,
2015, our organizational documents provide for an orderly liquidation of
our assets if stockholders holding a majority of our shares vote to authorize
us to liquidate. In the event of our liquidation, any joint venture may be
required to sell its properties at'that time, Although the terms of any joint
venture agreement could grant the co-venturer a right of first refusal to buy
the properties held in the joint venture in the event of our liquidation, it is
not possible to determine at this time whether the co-venturer would have
sufficient funds to exercise the rlght of first refusal in these circumstances.

’

The liquidation of our assets may be delayed. -

If our shares are not listed on a national securities exchange or'on the
NASDAQ Global Market by June 22, 2015, we will undertake, if
stockholders owning a majority of our stock vote to authorize us to do so, to
sell our assets and distribute the net sales proceeds to our stockholders, and
we will thereafter engage only in activities related to our orderly liquidation.
Neither our advisor nor our board of directors may be able to control the
timing of the sale of our interests in apartment-communities due to market
conditions, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to sell our assets
50 as to return-our stockholders’ aggregate invested capital, to generate a
profit for the stockholders or to fully satisfy our debt obligations. We will
only return all of our stockholders’ invested capital if we sell our interests in
communities for more than their original purchase price, although return of
capital, for federal income tax purposes, is not necessarily limited to
stockholder distributions following sales of properties. If we take-a purchase
money obligation in partial payment of the sales price of our interest in a
commumty, we will realize the proceeds of the sale over a period of years.

‘ r

We expect to make dlstnbutzons that mclude a refurn of capital.

We expect to make distributions that include a return of capital, and to
the extent we do so prior to the repayment of our current line of credit, we
will have less funds available to repay our current line of credit. Until the
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repayment of our initial borrowing under our current line of credit, the
terms of our credit'agreement restrict us from paying a dividend to our
stockholders in excess of 6% per annum (if authorized by our board of ..
directors and provided that there is no event of default under our credit
agreement). We may use various non-operational sources of cash in order
to pay such distributions. For example, we could borrow funds on a short
term basis.- We could also sell additional shares of stock or we could sell
some of our. communities. If we do any of the foregoing, we may decrease
cash available for future distributions. To the extent we make distributions
in excess of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, the . .
distribution will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital, reducing the
tax basis.in each U.S. stockholder’s shares, and the amount of each
distribution in excess of a U.S. stockholder’s tax basis in its shares will be ,
taxable as gain realized from the sale of its shares. :

Uninsured losses or high premiums for insurance coverage relating to our
Jacksonville apartment communities could adversely affect our operating results,
our cash flow and our ability to authorize distributions to our stockholders.

The above normal frequency and increased strength of hiirricanes seeri
over the past few years has led to a changing insurance environment in Gulf
Coast states, especially Florida. This situation carries with it increased risk
for the Company. Many insurance providers are exiting the property
insurance business in these states entirely. Florida has been particularly
affected, to the extent that the state insurance program of last resort is now
the largest insurer in the state. When coverage is available, the costs have
increased significantly over prior years. In some instances, no coverage at all
or only partial.coverage is available at any cost level. These conditions are .
especially pronounced in the case of insurance against wind damage. In the
case of our Jacksonville properties, our property and casualty premium
recently increased by approximately 208% and our deductible recently
increased from 2% to.10%. With regard to our Jacksonville apartment
communities, we were also unable to obtain coverage for the full insured
value of the property against wind damage, despite soliciting bids through
four different agencies. This overall turmoil in the insurance industry and
the considerably increased expense when even partial coverage is available
could impact the funds that the Company has available to pay distributions
to stockholders. Furthermore, if any of our Jacksonville properties incur a
casualty loss that is not fully insured, the value of our assets will be reduced
by such uninsured loss. Also, we may not have access to capital resources to
repair or reconstruct any uninsured damage to a property. ’
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR ORGANIZATION AND STRUCTURE

The board of directors can take many actions without stockholder approval.

. Our board of directors has overall aut_horlty to conduct our operations.
ThlS authorlty mcludes significant flexibility. For,example, ‘without a vote of
our stockholders, our board may: amend or revise our major policies,
including financing and distributions, change our advisor’s compensation,
and employ and compensate affiliates, replace our ad\'lis'or with a new
advisor or employ and compensate staff to perform some or all of our
advisor’s duties in-house, determine the compénsation of board members,
prevent the ownership transfer and/or accumulation of shares in order to
protect our status as a REIT or for any other reason deemed to be in the -
best interests of our stockholders, issue additional shares, which could
dilute your ownership, and list the shares on a national securities exchange
or market. Any of these actions could reduce the value of our compdny

Our organizational documents contain provmons wh:ch may discourage a
takeover of our company and depress our stock price.

Our organizational documents contain provisions which may have an
anti-takeover effect and inhibit a change in our management. These
provisions include:

(1) There are ownership limits and restrictions on transferability in'
our articles of incorporation. In order for us to qualify as a REIT, no
more than 50% of the value of outstanding Shares of our capital stock may
be owned, actuaily or ¢onstructively, by five or féwer individuals at any time
during the last half of each taxable year. To make sure that we will not fail
to qualify as a REIT under this test, subject to some ekceptions, our articles
prohibit any stockholder from owning actually or constructively more than
9.8% of the value or number of outstanding shares of our capital stock, Qur
board of directors may exernpt a person from the 9:8% ownership limit if
our board determines, in its sole discretion, that exceeding the 9.8%
ownership limit as to any proposed transferee would not jeopardize our
qualification as a REIT. This restriction may: discourage a tender offer or
other transactions or a change in management or control that might involve
the payment of a premium price for our shares or otherwise be in the best
interests of our stockholders; or compel a stockholder who had acquired-
more than 9.8% of our stock to dispose of the additional shares'and, as a
result, to forfeit the benefits of owning the additional shares.

(2) Our articles pérmit our board of directors te issue preferred stock
with terms that may discourage a third party from acquiring us.
Sections 7.1 and 7.3 of our articles permit our board of directofs to issue up
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to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, having those preferences,
converston or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to -
distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of redemption as
détermined by our board. Thus, our board could authorize the issuance of
preferred stock with terms and conditions which could have the effect of
discouraging a takeover or other transaction in which holders of some or a
majority of our shares might receive a premium for their shares over the -
then-prevailing market price of our shares.

(3) Our articles and bylaws contain other possible anti-takeover
provisions. Section 10.3 of our articles and Sections 7 and 12 of Article II
of our bylaws contain other provisions which may have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company or the
removal of existing management and, as a result, could prevent our
stockholders from being paid a premium for their shares of common stock
over the then-prevailing marketing prices. These provisions include advance
notice requirements for stockholder proposals and the absence of
cumulative voting rights. . :

(4) Maryland law may discourage a third party from acquiring us.
Maryland law restricts mergers and other business combinations between -
our company and an interested stockholder. An “interested stockholder” is
defined as any person who is the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the
voting power of our common stock and also includes any of our affiliates or
associates that, at any time within the, two-year period prior to the date of a
proposed merger or other business combination, was the beneficial owner
of 10% or more of our voting power, A person is not an interested
stockholder if, prior to the most recent time at which the person would
otherwise have-become an interested stockholder, our board approved the
transaction which otherwise would have resulted in the person becoming an
interested stockholder. For a period of five years after the most recent
acquisition of stock by an interested stockholder, we may not engage in any
merger or other business combination with that interested stockholder or
any affiliate of that interested stockholder. After the five-yvear period, any
merger or other business combination must be approved by our board and
by at least 80% of all the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding
shares of our voting stock and two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast
by holders of outstanding shares of our voting stock other than the
interested stockholder or any affiliate or associate of the interested
stockholder unless, among other things, the stockholders (other than the
interested stockholder) receive a minimum price for their common stock
and the consideration received by those stockholders is in cash or in the

26




same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its common
stock. These provisions of the business combination statute do not apply to
business combinations that are approved or exempted by our board prior to
the most recent time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder. However, the business combination statute could have the .
effect of discouraging offers from third parties to acquire us and increasing
the difficulty of successfully completing this type of offer.

Our business will be harmed if we cannot engag:e and retain the services of
reputable and reliable managers for our properties.

¥ v

Neither we nor our advisor will directly control the day-to-day .
management of our communities. Our advisor will retain third-party
managers on our behalf who will be responsible for leasing, maintenance
and other day-to-day management of the communities. Because our
revenues will largely be derived from rents, our financial condition will be
dependent on the ability of third-party managers that we do not control to
operate the communities successfully. While the communities that we
currently own interests in have experienced property managers, there can -
be no assurance that we will be able to make similar arrangements in future
transactions. If our third-party managers are unable to operate the
communities successfuily, our financial condition could be adversely
affected.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors
and officers are limited. ) '

Pursuant to our charter, we have entered into agreements indemnifying
each director for personal losses or liability reasonably incurred by the
director in connection with any-act or omission performed or omitted to be
performed on behalf of the company, provided that the director has
determined in good faithy that the course of conduct which caused the loss,
or liability was in the best interests of the company. Such indemnification is
subject to the conditions and limitations imposed by Article I1.G of the
NASAA Guidelines and the Maryland General Corporation Law. Among
the conditions and limitations on indemnification are requirements that the
loss or liability not be caused by the negligence or misconduct by a non-
independent director or the gross negligence or willful misconduct of an
independent director and that the act or omission that was material to the
loss or liability was not committed in bad faith or was not the result of active
or deliberate dishonesty. As a result, we and our stockholders may have
more limited rights against our directors than might otherwise exist under
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common law. In addition, we may be obllgated to fund the defense costs
incurred by our directors.

Mortgage debt obhganons expose us o mcreased risk af loss of pmperg:, whu'h
could harm our financial condition. . !

We €xpect that all otr apartmem communmes will be encumbered by
permanent mortgage financing. Incurring mortgage debt on our '
communities increases our risk of loss because defaults on indebiedness
secured by our apartment communities may résult in foreclosure actions
initiated by lenders and ultimately our loss of the commumty securing any
loans which are in default. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our
communities would be treated as a sale of the community for a purchase
price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage.
If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeded
our tax basis in the community, we would recognize taxable income on
foreclosure, but would not receive any cash proceeds. The loss of part or all
of our investment in a community could also cause the value of our shares
and the distributions payable to our stockholders to be reduced.

Hiiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to
respond to adverse changes in the performance of our properties and harm our
Sfinancial condition.

.. Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to
promptly sell one or more apartment communities in our portfolio in
response to changing economic, financial and investment conditions is
limited. The real estate market is affected by many factors, such as general
economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other
factors, including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. We
cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any community for the price -
or on the terms set by us, or whether any price or other terms offered by a -
prospective purchaser would be acceptable to us. We also cannot predict
the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of
a community. We may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to
make improvements before a community can be sold. We cannot assure you
that we will have funds available to correct those defects or to make those
improvements. In addition, the prohibition in the federal tax laws on REITs
holding property for sale and related regulations may affect our ability to -
sell communities without adversely affecting distributions to stockliolders.

b . ‘
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If we suffer losses that are not covered by-insurance or that are in excess of our
insurance coverage limits, we could lose invested capital and anticipated profits.

Catastrophic losses, such as losses due to wars, earthquakes, floods,
hurricanes, pollution or environmental matters, generally are either
uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be subject to insurance
coverage limitations, such as large deductibles or-co-payments. If one of
these events occurred to, or caused the destruction of, one or more of our
communities, we could lose both our invested caplta] and anncnpated profits
from that commumty -

Your interest in our company may be diluted if we tssue addmona! shares and
your dtstr:butwns may be affected. .

Potential investors in the offering do not have preemptwe ng,hts to any
shares issued by us in the future. Therefore, investors purchasing shares in
the offering may experience dilution of their equity investment in our
company in the event that we: sell additional shares in the future, including
those issued pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan, sell securities
that are convertible into shares, issue shares in a private offering of
securities {0 institutional investors, issue shares of common stock upon the
exercise of options granted to our independent directors or consultants and
employees of our company, our advisor and affiliates, or issue shares to
sellers of communities acquired by us. Further, our board has the ability to
issue shares of preferred stock with rights senior to those of our common
stock, which could include superior dividend rights that could result in our
common stockholders receiving no dividend distributions. Upon the
consummation of our UPREIT restructuring, we may issue partnership
units which are redeemable for our common stock or which are convertible
into shares of preferred stock with rights senior to those of olr common
stock either for cash or in connection with acquisitions of apartment
communities. Such issuarices could result in a dilution of stockholder
equity. Because the limited partnership interests of our operating
partnership may be exchanged for shares of our common stock, any merger,
exchange or conversion between our operating partnership and another
entity ultimately could result in the issuance of a substantial number of
shares of our common stock, thereby diluting the percentage ownership
interest of other stockholders. Because of these and other reasons described
in this “Risk Factors” section, you should not expect to be able to own a
significant percentage of our shares.
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RISKS RELATED TO THE PUBLIC OFFERING
We are dependent on our advisor and the property managers.

Our advisor, with approval from our board of directors, is responsible
for our daily management, including all acquisitions, dispositions and
financings. Our advisor, in turn, will retain third-party or affiliated
managers on our behalf who will be responsible for leasing, maintenance -
and other day-to-day management of our communities. The board of
directors may replace our advisor or any property manager, but only in
certain circumstances. We cannot be sure that our advisor or any property
manager will achieve our objectives or that the board of directors will be

able to act quickly to remove our advisor or any property manager if it
deems removal necessary. As a result, it is possible that we or one or more,
of our communities could be managed for some period by a company that
was not acting in our best interests or not capable of helping us achieve our
objectives.

We have a ltmtted operating history.

-

Prior to May 15, 2003, the date our operations commenced we had no
previous performance history. To date, we have acquired interests in the
apartment communities described in this annual report. You cannot be sure
how we will be operated, whether we will pursue the objectives described in
this annual report or how we will perform fmanc1ally :

Paymeut of fees to our adwsor and its affiliates were rmt determmed in arm’s
length negotiations and will reduce cash available for investment and
distribution. . . ;
Our advisor and its afflllates including the dealer-manager, will.
perform services for us in connection with the offer and sale of the shares,
the selection and acquisition of our properties and the management of our
affairs on a day-to-day basis. They will be paid fees for these services, which
will reduce the amount of cash available for investment in properties or
distribution to stockholders and which may reduce the price you will receive
for any shares you may sell. The fees we will pay to our advisor and its
affiliates were not determined in arm’s- -length negotidtions and are not
based on our performance.

Ly T

Debt service payments and restrictive covenanis'in credit agreements may
prevent or delay our ability to invest in new communities. ;

Under the terms of our current credit agreement we are obligated to
utilize all net proceeds from the offering to repay any amounts outstandmg
under our unsecured credit facility after the payment of (i) amounts
necessary to pay a maximum dividend of 6% per annum (if authorized by
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our board.of directors), (ii) costs necessary to maintain our REIT status,
(iii) reasonable operating reserves and.(iv) the asset management fee -
payable monthly to our advisor. If our net income is less than we anticipate,
the amount of working capital that we will have available to invest in our
communities after the repayment of our initial borrowing under our current
line of credit with Wachovia Bank, National Association will be reduced,
which could harm our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to
pay distributions to our stockholders.

L

We may not have available operating cash flows from any of the communities
described in this annual report to pay distributions to stockholders.

We intend to use a portion or all of such funds to make distributions -
that include a return of capital, and we will therefore have less capital to
repay our current line of credit, which would delay our repayment of this
borrowing. ‘

We have experienced net losses since our inception. We incurred net
losses of approximately $9.0 million, $7.3 million, $7.8 million and $5.6
million in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006, December 31, 2005,
December 31, 2004'and the period May 15, 2003 (inception) through
December 31, 2003, respectively. We expect that we will continue to incur
losses until we repay our initial borrowing under our current line of credit
with Wachovia Bank, National Association or any refinancing thereof. We
cannot be certain that we will be able to achieve and/or sustain profitability
in future periods.

We are dependent on the dedler-manager.

Boston'Capital Securities, Inc, the dealer manager of our offering,
entered into an Acceptance, Waiver and Consent (AWC) with the NASD’s
Boston District office in March 2006 to resolve an NASD inquiry into
Boston Capital Securities Inc.’s offer and sale of securities in certain series
of Boston Capital Tax Credit Fund V, L.P. (“Fund V”). The NASD staff
found that Boston Capital Securities Inc. violated: (i) NASD Conduct
Rules 2710(b)(4)(B)(ii} and 2110 by marketing and selling an offering of a
series of Fund V before receiving the necessary NASD approvals;

(it) NASD Conduct Rules 2810(b)(4)(B) and 2110 by exceeding the
NASD’s underwriting compensation guidelines with respect to another
offering of a series of Fund V; (iii) NASD Conduct Rules 2710(c)(2)(C)-
nd 2110 by making incorrect disclosures regarding its underwriting
ompensation in connection with the offering as described in subsection
ii); and (iv) NASD Conduct Rule 3010 for having inadequate supervisory
ystems and procedures to prevent the above-mentioned rule violations.
oston Capital Securities Inc. neither admitted nor denied the NASD’s
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charges, but'consented to the entry of the NASD's findings, and was fined
$1.2 million. Because we are dependent on Boston Capital Securities, Inc.”
in connection with our offering, any other NASD or other regulatory
actions which could have a material adverse effect on Boston Capital:
Securities, Inc. could also have a material adverse effect on us. Qur.board
of directors can replace Boston Capltal Securltles Inc. as the dealer- ... .
manager at any time..- + - S
Stockholders may not be able to liquidate thetr investment promptly at a
reasonable price. Coe

There is no currént public market for our shares, and, therefore; it will
be difficult for you to sell your shares promptly. In addition, the price
received for any shares sold is likely to bé less than the proportionate value
of the interests in real estate.we.own and, due in part to.the illiquidity of .
our shares and the initial sales load, less than the initial public offering
price. Although it is possible that our common stock may be listed ona
national securities exchange or on'the NASDAQ Global Market in the
future, there’is no guarantée that such a listing can or will be accomplished
or that a public market for our, shares will develop, or if one develops, that
the price received for any shares sold will equal or excéed the initial _public
offermg price. Stockholders should consider their, investment in our
company to be a long _term investment.

You cannot evaluate all of the propemes we may own.

Currently, we own interests in the apartment communities descrlbed in
this annual report, representing approximately 8.0% of the amount of-the
maximum offering or approximately $80.9 million. If we continue to raise
funds after we have raised amounts sufficient to repay all our outstanding
indebtedness under our current line of credit, we will acquire, interests in
additional apartment communities which our, advisor has not 1dent1f1ed and
which will be a blind pool that you will not.have the opportunity to evaluate.
You must rely.on the ability of our advisor to find suitable additional
investments. We cannot guarantee that our advisor will be able to find |
additional investments meeting our investment objectlves or that any
investment we have made or will make will generate income for _
stockholders or increase in value over time. In addition, our board of
directors may approve additional future equity offerings or obtain
additional financing, the proceeds of which may be invested in additional
communities. Therefore, you will not have an opportumty to evaluate all of
the communities that will be in our portfoho prior to purchasmg shares in
the offering. . -, ' . .
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Limited d:vers:f Tcation mcreases risk of loss.

The niumber of commumtles ‘that we will own interests in and the
geographic dwersny of our investments will be reduced to the extent that
the total proceeds of the offering are less than $1 billion. With limited
diversity, an apartment community with poor operating results can have a” "
greater negative effect on our operations as a whole. Currently, we own
properties in the Seattle, Washington, Portland, Oregon, Salt Lake City,
Utah, Plano, Texas and Jacksonville, Florida, areas. If we do not raisé
sufficient funds to repay loans with respect to the communities in any of '
these areas, we will lose our mterests in such communities and the
geographic dwersxty of our mvestments _would be reducéd.

'

Our management and that of our advisor have little erpenence investing in
market rate apartment communities and no experience operating a REIT.

Although our management and that of our advisor have extensive
experience in investing in apartment communities, substantiatly all of this
experience was acquired by managing entities that invested in apartment
communities financed or operated, or both, with one or more forms of -
government subsidy. The investment objectives of these affordable housing
programs were to create certain tax benefits in the form of low-income
housing and rehabilitation tax credits or tax losses. Dlstrlbutlons of current
cash flow were not a primary objective of these entities. The lack of
substantial experience of our management and its affiliates in investing in
market rate apartment communities may adversely affect our results of
operations. Neither we nor our advisor has previously operated a REIT;
however, officers of our advisor have previously managed market rate
properties. During their more than 30-year history, our advisor and ifs
affiliates and predecessors acquired 19,338 apartment units of which 4,023
were market rate units. However, they have not previously offered a fully
market rate community program. A REIT must operate in a manner that
enables it to-meet complex requirements under the Internal Revenue Code.
If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will be subject to increased taxation.

You are limited in your ability to sell shares pursuam to our share redemption
rogram.

Even though our shére redemption program provides you with the
pportunity to redeem your shares for $9.15 per share (or the price you
aid for the shares, if lower than $9.15) after you have held them for a
eriod of one year, you should be fully aware that our share redemption

33




program contains certain restrictions and limitations. Shares will be
redeemed on a pro rata basis at the end of each quarter and will be limited
to the lesser of (i) during any calendar year, 3% of the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the prior calendar year, or (ii) the
proceeds we receive from the sale of shares undgf our distribution
reinvestment plan such that in no event shall the aggregate amount of
redemptions under our share redemption program exceed aggregate
proceeds Teceived from the sale of shares pursuant to our distribution
reinvestment plan. Our board of directors reserves the nght to amend or
terminate the share redemption program at'any time. In addition, the board
of directors has delegated authority to our officers to reject any request for
redemption for any reason at any time. Therefore, in making a decision to
purchase shares of our company, you should not assume that you will be
able to sell any of your shares back to us pursuant to our share redemption
program. '

An independent underwriter will not make an independent investigation of our
company or-the gffering prospectus which are custamardy performed in
underwritten offerings. . .

The dealer-manager of the - offering is one of our affiliates and will
receive commissions and other compensatlon as our agent. The dealer-
manager has not retained separate counsel and will not make an
independent review of us or the terms of the offering. Accordingly, the due
diligence review of us by the dealer-manager cannot be considered to be an
independent review and therefore, investors will not have the benefit of an
independent investigation of our company as is customarily made by an
unaffiliated broker-dealer or mdependent underwrlters

There has been no public market for our common stock.

The initial public offering price of $10.00 per share was determined by
our board of directors after consultation with the dealer-manager, based on
prevailing market conditions and other factors, such as the prospects for
our company and the industry in which we compete. Our shares will not be
listed on any securities exchange or market; and there is no assurance that
any market for the shares will develop. The price received per share for any
shares you sell is likely to be less than the proportionate value of the real
estate we own. It is also possible that after the offering, the price received
per share for any shares you sell will be less than the initial public qffgrmg
price.
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Your investment return may be reduced if we are required to register as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act.

* We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended, based on exclusions that we believe are
available to us. If we were obligated to register as an investment company,
we would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under
the Investment Company Act imposing, among other thmgs

. llmltatlons on capltal structure;
e restrictions on specnﬁed investments;
s prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and

« compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure
and other rules and regulations that would significantly change our
operations. '

In order to maintain our exemption from regulation under the Investment
Company Act, we must engage primarily in the business of buying real :
estate assets or real estate related assets. Further, to-maintain compliance -
with the Investment Company Act exemption, we may be unable to sell
assets we would otherwise want to sell and may need to'sell assets we would
otherwise wish to.retain. In addition, we may have 16 acquire additional -
income or loss generating assets that we might not otherwise have acquired.
or may have to forgo opportunities to acquire interests in companies that’
we would otherwise want to acquire and would be important to our
investment strategy. To avoid regulation as an investment company, we
must be engaged primarily in a business other than that of owning, holding, .
trading or investing in securities, We may invest m assets that are
determined to be securities rather than interests in, or liens upon, real
estate. If a'sufficient amount of our assets were detérmined to be securities
instead of interests in, or liens upon, real estate,; we would be required to
register as an investment company. 1f we were required to register as an - -
investment company but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from
engaging in our business, dnd-¢riminal and civil actions could be brought -
against us. In addition, our contracts would be unenforteable unless a court
were to require enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take
control of us and liquidate our business. Registration as an investment
company could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and ability to pay distributions to you.
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Our capital raising ability is principally reliant on one selected dealer.

As previously disclosed, we continue to be principally reliant on
Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc. to market our shares to investors. Any
adverse change in that arrangement could severely limit our ability to
increase assets under management and may prevent us from having funds
available for new transactions. Notwithstanding the above, we have entered
into soliciting dealer agreements with approximately 84 NASD registered
firms who are in various stages of marketing our shares to investors. The
deales-manager’s marketing efforts will continue in an effort to add'
participating broker-dealers on a regular basis but we cannot assure you
that the dealer-manager will be successful in such marketing efforts.

Your subscription payment is irrevocable. K _—

Once we have accepted your sdbsc‘ription to purchase shares in the
offering, your subscription is irrevocable and you cannot withdraw your
payment for your shares. Subscriptions will be released from escrow as soon
as practicable. Interest will only be earned by investors on subscription
proceeds held in escrow longer than twenty (20) calendar, days. Any interest
earned on subscription proceeds held in escrow less than such period will be
paid to us and we will use such- amounts for working capital..All interest,
distributions, if due, will be made within 75 days of the end-of the fiscal _
quarter following the relevant closing date. The current interest rate is
3.75%, but the rate can adjust similar to a bank passbook savings rate.

. . CONFLICTS OF INTEREST RISKS

“We will be subject to conflicts of interest arising out of our relatl'anShips with our
advisor and its affiliates, including the material conflicts discussed below.
. The “Cenflicts of Interest” section provides a further discussion of the

conflicts of interest between us and our advisor and its affiliates and our
policies to reduce or,eliminate certain potential confiicts.

There are certain relationships between our company and other entities -
providing services (o us. :

Our advisor is a wholly owned subsidiary of Boston Capital Holdings'
Limited Partnérship. John P. Manning, our Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, owns the géneral partner of and a limited partner interest in Boston

Capital Holdings Limited Partnership. ‘ .
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Boston Capital Holdings Limited Partnership also owns 66%% of the:
dealer-manager. Mr. Manning also owns the general partner of and a
limited partner interest in Boston Capitali Companion Limited Parinership.
Boston Capital Companion Limited Partnership owns 20,000 shares of our
common stock..

Our advisor was not involved in the initial formation transactions for
the Seattle communities. Initially, an affiliate of our advisor, BC-GFS LLC,
was formed and controlled by John P. Manning to acquire the Seattle
communities from Goodman Financial Services (“GFS”), an unaffiliated -
entity. GFS had already-entered into binding contracts to purchase the
Seattle communities from a third party seller and it agreed to assign its
entire right to purchase the Seattle communities to BC-GFS LLC in return
for the initial property management contracts for the communities. This
included a share of cash flow and sale proceeds to the GFS affiliate aftera
preferred return on investors’ unreturned capital contributlons The
ownership of BC-GFS LLC was amended so that we now own 99 99% of.
the economic interest,and BCMR Speciat, Inc. (which is controlled by
Boston Capital Companion Limited Partnership) owns 0.01% of the
€Conomic interest. .

The directors may détennine in the future that it may be in the best interest of
our company to become completely or partially self-administered.

In such event, the directors may determine to acquire all or a portion
of our advisor or its affiliates in exchange for cash, stock or other
consideration. Any such acquisition would be subject to the conflict of -
interest provisions of our articles of incorporation governing transactions-
with our advisor and its affiliates, which generally require a finding by a
majority of the directors (including a majority of the independent dlrectors)
that the transaction’is fair and reasonable to the company.

Depending on the circumstances and the nature and amount of the
consideration, a stockholder vote may not be required to authorize such an
acquisition.

We will experiencé competition for properties: " -

Our adVlSOI' will be selectmg properties for other programs and entities
as well as for our company. The selection of properties for our company
may be subject to conflicts of interest. We cannot be sure that our adv1sor
will act in our best interests when 'deciding whether to allocate any
particular property to us. You will not have the opportunity to evaluate the
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manner in which these conflicts-of interest are resolved before making your
investment. :

There will be competing demands on our officers and directors.

Our directors and officers, and the officers of our advisor, have
management responsibilities for other companies including affiliated
companies. For this reason, these officers and directors will share their
management time and services among those companies and our company,
will not-devote all of their attention to our company, and could take actions
that are more favorable to the other companies.than to our company.

The timing of acquisitions and sales may favor our advisor, .

Our advisor or its affiliates may immediately réalize 2.7% of the gross’
offering proceeds in acquisition fees and 0.5% of the gross offermg
proceeds for acquisition expenses as a result of any investment ina
community by us. They may realize subofdinated disposition feés of 3% of
the sales price for communities sold after our stockholdeis receive a return
of all of their invested capital plus the Stockholder’s 6.0% Return. After
stockholders have received their return of capital and the Stockholder’s
6.0% Return, our advisor is entitled to 15% of the remaining net sales
proceeds. Our board of directors must approve any investménts and sal¢s,
but our advisor’s recommendation to the board may be influenced by the
impact of the transaction on our advisor’s compensation. Our advisor or its
affiliates also will receive monthly 1/12th of 0.75% of the amount invested
in communities (including all mortgage debt). The agreements between us
and our advisor were not the result of arm’s-length negotiations. As a result,
our advisor may not always act in our best interests, which could adversely.
affect our results of operations. The agreements between us and our advisor
were negotiated by the same people, but our independent directors at that
time did review and approve the agreements.

We may invest with aﬂihates of our advisor.' -
We may invest in joint ventures with other programs sponsored by our
advisor or its affiliates. Our board of directors, including the independent -
directors, must approve the transaction, but our advisor’s recommendation
may be affected by its relationship with one or more of the co-venturers and
may be more beneficial to the other programs than to us. Such a joint
venture with an affiliate might be considered if an investment opportunity -
in apartment communities in the United States was too large for us to inves
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in without a joint venture partner. Any joint venture would have to be
consistent with our investment objectives-and policies. Joint venture:
negotiations with affiliates would not have the benefit of arm’s-length
negotiations.

There is no separate counsel for our company, our affiliates and stockholders.

- We may have interests that conflict with yours and those of our
affiliates, but in connection with the offering, none of us has separate
counsel. ' . } '

We currently intend to convert to an UPREIT structure.

If the proposed UPREIT conversion is consummated, we will be the
general partner of our new directly and indirectly wholly-owned operating
partnership. Our directors and officers have duties to the company and our
stockholders under Maryland law in‘connection with their management of
the company. At the same time, we, as general partner will have fiduciary
duties under Delaware law to our operating partnership and to the limited
partners in connection with the management of our operating partnership.
Our duties as general partner of our operating partnership and its partners
may come into conflict with the duties of gur directors and officers to the
company and our stockholders. Under Delaware law, a general partner of a
Delaware limited partnership owes its limited partners the duties of good™
faith and fair dealing. Other duties, including fiduciary duties, may be
modified or eliminated in the partnership’s partnership agreement. We
intend to structure the partnership agreement of our operating partnership
to provide that, for so long as we own a controlling interest in our operating
partnership, any conflict that cannot be resolved in a manner not adverse to
either our stockholders or the limited partners will be resolved in favor of
our stockholders.

Additionally, we intend that the partnership agreement for our .
operating partnership will expressly limit our liability by providing that we
and our officers, directors, agents and employees, will not be liable or
accountable to our operating partnership for losses sustained, liabilities
incurred or benefits not derived if we or our officers, directors, agents or
employees acted in good faith. In addition, we intend to require our
operating partnership to indemnify us and our officers, directors,
employees, agents and designees to the extent permitted by applicable law
from and against any and all claims arising from operations of our operating
partaership, unless it is established that: (1) the act or omission was
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committed in bad faith, was fraudulent or was the result of active and
deliberate dishonesty; (2) the indemnified party received an improper
personal benefit in money, property or services; or (3) in the case of a-
criminal proceeding, the indemnified person had reasenable cause to
believe that the act or omission was unlawful.

‘The provisions of Delaware law that allow the fiduciary duties of a
general partner to be modified by a partnership agreement have not been
tested in a court of law, and we have not obtained, and do not anticipate
obtaining, an opinion of counsel covering the provisions we intend to have
set forth in the partnershnp agreement that purport to waive or restrict our
fiduciary duties. : : .

TAX AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN RISKS
If we fail to remain qualified as a REIT, our distributions will not be deductibfe

by us, and our income will be subject to taxation, reducmg our earnings '
available for distribution.

We have made an election to be taxed as a REIT beginning with the
tax year ended December 31, 2005 and intend to rémain qualified as a
REIT undér the Internal Revenue Code for as long as being so qualified
affords us significant tax advantages. The requirements for this
qualification, however, are complex. If we fail to meet these requirements,
our distributions w1ll not be deductible to us and we will have to pay a
corporate level tax on our income. This would substantldlly reduce our cash
available to pay dividends and your yield on your investment in our stock. In
addition, such a tax liability might cause us to borrow funds, liquidate some
of our investments or take other steps which could negatively affect our
operating results. Moreover, if our REIT status is terminated because of
our failure to mieet a technical REIT requirement or if we voluntarily
revoke our election, we would generally be disqualified from electing
treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year in which
REIT status is lost. .

Because we acquired properties prior to qualification as a REIT, we may face
certain tax consequences.

We have acquired properties prior to the first day of the first taxable
year for which we expect to qualify as a REIT (January 1, 2005, or the
“REIT Commencement Date”). If we recognize gain on the disposition of
any of these assets during the 10-year period begmnmg on the REIT
Commencement Date, then we will be subject to tax at the highest regular

40




corporate rate on the lesser of.(A) the fair market value of the asset as of
the REIT Commencement Date over our basis in the asset as of the REIT
Commencement Date (the “Built-In Gain”),-or (B).the amount of gain we
would otherwise recognize on the disposition. We would be subject to this
tax liability even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT. In order -
to qualify as a REIT, we will be requiréd to distribute an amount equal to at
least 90% of the-Built-In Gain (after- payment of a corporate level tax), if
any, recognized on the disposition of any of these assets during the 10-year
period begmmng on the REIT Commenccment Date.

To qualify as a REIT, we cannot have at the end of any taxable year any.
undistributed earnings and proﬁts that are attributable to'a nan-REI T taxable .
year. . J ,

We do not bellcve that we have any non- REIT earning$ and proflts and
therefore we believe that we satisfy this reqmrement

Even REITs are subject to federal and state im:ome taxes.

Even if we qualify and' maintain our status a$ a REIT, we may become
subject to federal income taxes and related state taxes. For example, if we
have net income from the sale or other disposition of inventory or propérty,
other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of business, that income will be subject to applicable federal
income taxes and relafed state taxes. We may-not be able to make sufficient
distributions to avoid excise taxes applicable to REITs. We may also decide
to retain income we earn from the sale or other disposition of a property
and pay income tax direcily on that income. In that event, our stockholders
would be treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it
directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or
qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from their deemed payment
of that tax liability. We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to
satisfy the REIT requirements, or that it will be in our best interests to
continue to so do. We may also be subject to state and local taxes on our - -
income, and our communities will be subject to property taxes.
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If more than fifty percent in value of our outstanding shares is owned directly,
indirectly or through attribution by five or fewer individuals at any time during
the last half of any taxable year, we will not qualify as a REIT and will not be -
able to make a new REIT election until the fifth taxable year after we lose our
REIT status. - - . .
Under Sections 856{a)(6) and 856(h) of the Internal Revenue Code, no
five or fewer individuals (as defined in- Code Section 542(a)(2) and taking
into account the look through rule of Section 856(h)(3) of.the Internal
Revenue Code) can own-during the last half of any taxable year more than
fifty percent in value of the outstanding shares of the capital stock of a
REIT directly, indirectly, or through the application of the attribution rules
of Section 544 of the Internal Revenue Code (as modified.by
Section 856(h)(1)(B} of the Internal Revenue Code), other than with
respect to the first taxable year for which a REIT election is made
(“Five/Fifty Requirement”). B

An investment in our common stock may not be suitable for every employee
benefit plan. ' ' '

When considering an investment in our common stock, an individual
with investment discretion over assets of any pension plan,,profit-sharing
plan, retirement plan, IRA or other employee benefit plan covered by
ERISA should consider whether the investment satisfies the requirements
of Section 404 of ERISA or other applicable laws. In particular, attention
should-be paid to the diversification requirements of Section 404{a)(3) of
ERISA in light of all the facts and circumstances, including the portion of
the plan’s portfolio of which the investment will be a part. All plan investors
should also consider whether the investment is prudent and meets plan
liquidity requirements as there may be only a limited market in which to sell
or otherwise dispose of our common stock, whether the investment is
permissible under the plan’s governing instrument, and whether the
investment could be a prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Internal
Revenue Code. Also, the annual determination of the fair market value of
that plan’s assets required of the fiduciary may be difficult because there is
no public market for the stock. We have not, and will not, evaluate whether
an investment in our common stock is suitable for any particular plan.

Following the consummation of the UPREIT restructuring, if our operating
partnership fails to maintain its status as a partnership, its income may be
subject to tax, which would reduce our cash available for distribution to our
stockholders.

In February 2007, our board of directors approved a plan to restructure
the manner in which we hold our assets, by converting to what is commonly
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referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To
effect the UPREIT restructuring, we plan to form a new directly and - .
indirectly wholly-owned partnership, which we refer to as our operating
partnership, which following the restructuring, will hold substantially atl of
our assets and liabilities, including the assumption of the obligations under
our current line of credit. We intend to maintain the status of the operating
partnership as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. However, if
the Internal Revenue Service were to successfully challenge the status of
the operating partnership as a partnership, it would be taxable as a
corporation, reducing the amount of distributions that the operating
partnership could make to us. This also would result in our losing REIT
status, and becoming subject to a corporate level tax on our own income.
This would substantially reduce our cash available to make distributions and
the return on your investment. In addition, if any of the partnerships or
limited liability companies through which the operating partnership owns its
properties, in whole or'in part, loses its characterization as a partnership for
federal income tax purposes, it would be subject to tax as a corporation,
thereby reducing distributions to the operating partnership. Such a
recharacterization of an underlying property owner also could threaten our
ability to maintain REIT status. For a mére detailed description of the
UPREIT restructuring, see “UPREIT Restructuring”.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2.  Properties '

The apartment communities we'own interests in are described below.
As of December 31, 2006, we owned interests in 11 apartment communities
consisting of 3,098 units. Ten of the apartment communities in which we
owned interests as of December 31, 2006 are in three portfolios and the
remaining apartment community is a single community property. Typically,
a wholly owned subsidiary of our company owns limited liability company
interests (representing all of the equity) in a LLC that owns, through wholly
owned subsidiaries, a group of apartment communities. The manager of the
LLC that owns apartment communities through wholly owned subsidiaries
is typically an affiliate of the property manager, and typically has a small
economic interest in the LLC. We have the right to remove and replace the
LLC manager at any time without cause. We believe that this arrangement
is an appropriate incentive to encourage performance by the manager of
the LLC. In the future, we may also own communities directly, or, as we
have done with respect to our Plano community, through joint ventures,
ith affiliated or vnaffiliated third parties.
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The following chart shows the typical structure of our investment in
apartment communities: .

REIT

100%

REIT Subsidiary in which the
"REIT has a 100% Ownership ’
and Economic Interest

100% - .

100%-owned Entity in which
an Unaffiliated Third Party
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Subordinate to the REIT's
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Set forth below is information on our apartment communities:
Permancnt
%of  Mortgage Occupancy
Date Year of Number Tota! Balanceat at

Property Location Acquired Completion of Units  Units 1231106 12/31/06
Bay Pointc Apts. ..  Jacksonville Heights, FL. 503 1974, 300 0% § 9,800,000 88%
Savannah Oaks Apts.  Southside Jacksonville, FL 5103 1971 228 7% $ 6,474,000 88%
Spicewood Springs .

Apts. .. ... ... East Jacksonville, FL 5/03 1987 512 17%  $19,100,000 N% -
Boulder Creek Apts..  Wilsonville, OR 503 199¢ ' 296 10% $11.375,000 91%
Bridge Creek Apts..  Wilsanville, OR 503 1988 us 0% $12,538,000 9N1%(b)
Setiler’s Pointe Apts,,  Taylorsville, UT 503 1986 416 13%  $15,000,000 90%
Alderwood Park

Apts. . ...... . Lynnwood, WA . 503 1982 188 6% $ 9210000(a) 98%
Ridgegate Apts..'” .  Kent, WA ) 503 1990 153 1% § 7,420000(3) 98%
Ridgetop Apts.. ... Silverdale, WA . 5m 1989 221 8% 3§ 9.690,000{a) 96%
Wellington Apts, .. Silverdale, WA 503 1988 240 5% §11.530.000(z) 93%
Broadstone Preston - .

at Willowbend

APIS, oL vvves West Plano, TX 905 1984 29 7% $11,981,000 92%(c)

(a) Includes only the first permanent mortgage loan. The apartment community is also
currently encumbered with a second mortgage that we anticipate to repay from proceeds
of the offering,

{b) . Occupancy reflects a total of 18 units off-line for fire damage repair at December 31,
2006.

{c) Occupancy reflects a total of 15 units off-line for renovation at December 31, 2006.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings (dollars in thousands)

.On March 24, 2005, BC-Bainbridge Timuquana LLC, the owner of the
Savannah Oaks Apartment Community (formerly known as Qaks at
Timuquana Apartments), which is controlled by us, filed a lawsuit in the
Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit for Duval County, Florida
against URS Corporation for breach of contract and negligence. During the
due diligence period prior to acquisition of the community by us, URS
Corporation, a global engineering firm, performed the property inspection
for us. The property inspection report prepared by URS for BC-Bainbridge
Timuquana LLC incorrectly stated that the community’s plumbing system
consisted of copper piping, when in fact it has galvanized pipe. As a result
of the defendant’s professional negligence and breach of contract, a suit was
filed for damages of $800. The lawsuit went to trial in September 2006. The
court ruled in favor of BC-Bainbridge Timuquana.LLC and awarded
damages in the amount of $96. This amount is significantly less than the
amount that we presented to the court as damages. The court found that
the extent of our damages should be extrapolated from historical damages
suffered since we purchased the property, rather than the future anticipated
damages. In consideration for recovering a portion of the legal and other
costs related to the litigation, BC-Bainbridge Timuquana LLC entered into
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a settlement agreement with URS Corporation on November 29, 2006 in
the amount of $105. Proceeds of $75, which represented the amount
awarded less legal representation contingency fees and expenses, were
received on December 21, 2006.

Boston Capital Securities, Inc, the dealer manager in our offering,
entered into an Acceptance, Waiver and Consent (AWC) with the NASD’s
Boston District office in March 2006 to resolve an NASD inquiry into
Boston Capital Securities Inc.’s offer and sale of securities in certain series
of Boston Capital Tax Credit Fund V, L.P. (“Fund V”). The NASD staff
found that Boston Capital Securities Inc. violated: (i) NASD Conduct
Rules 2710(b)}{(4)(B)(ii) and 2110 by marketing and selling an offering of a
series of Fund V before receiving the necessary NASD approvals;

(ii) NASD Conduct Rules 2810(b)(4)(B) and 2110 by exceeding the
NASD’s underwriting compensation guidelines with respect to another
offering of a series of Fund V; (iii) NASD Conduct Rules 2710(c)(2)(C)
and 2110 by making incorrect disclosures regarding its underwriting
compensation in connection with the offering as described in

subsection (ii); and (iv) NASD Conduct Rule 3010 for having inadequate
supervisory systems and procedures to prevent the above-mentioned rule
violations. Boston Capital Securities Inc. neither admitted nor denied the
NASD’s charges, but consented to the entry of the NASD's findings, and
was fined $1.2 million. Because we are dependent on Boston Capital
Securities, Inc. in connection with our offering, any other NASD or other
regulatory actions which could have a material adverse effect on Boston
Capital Securities, Inc. could also have a material adverse effect on us. Qur
board of directors can replace Boston Capital Secutities, Inc. as the dealer-
manager at any time.

On January 3, 2007, GFS Ridgetop LLC, the owner of the Ridgetop
Apartment Community, which is controlled by us, filed a lawsuit in the
Superior Court of the State of Washington for Kitsap County, Washington
against Truck Insurance Exchange for declaratory relief and breach of
contract. The suit is seeking unspecified damages for (i) losses caused in.
whole or part by “collapse” of decks caused by construction defects and
(i) losses due to damage- to exterior of buildings caused by rain and/or
snow. The suit seeks the recovery costs including but not limited to the cost
of repair and replacement, loss of business income and debris removal. .

Item 4 Subinission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.* .
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PART II

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities (dollars in
thousands, except per share data, unless otherwise noted) -

0N -

Market information

There is no public trading market for our stock. We are offering up to
100,000,000 shares of common stock through a network of broker dealers
on a best efforts basis at $10.00 per share to investors who meet certain
suitability standards. Investor funds are held in escrow and stockholders are
admitted at our discretion as soon as practicable,

Number of stockholders

As of March 22, 2007, we have approximately 2,086 common
stockholders owning approximately 5,003,988 million shares of our common
stock.

Distributions

We have made an election to be treated as a REIT for federal tax
purposes beginning with the taxable year ended December 31, 2005. In
order to remain qualified as a REIT, we are required to distribute at least
90% of our annual taxable income to our stockholders. We therefore intend
to pay regular monthly distributions to holders of our common stock. Any
distributions we make, however, will be at the discretion of our board of
directors, in accordance with our earnings, cash flow, capital needs and
general financing condition. Distributions will be made to thase holders of
our common stock who are holders of our common stock as of record dates
selected by our board of directors. As of March 22, 2007 we have made |
return of capital distributions to cur common stockholders totaling $958, of
which $431 was reinvested pursuant to our distr'ibulion reinvestment plan.
In addition, we have distributed interest earned on funds held in escrow of
$9 to our common stockholders. '

On February 15, 2007, we redeemed all of the outstanding shares of
our 12.0% Series A Cumulative Non-Voting Preferred Stock. Through the
redemption date, we have made distributions to our preferred shareholders
totaling $97 representing a full redemption of invested capital plus a 12%
return on investment.

We cannot assure you that our intended distribution policy will be
sustained. Our actual results of operations may differ materially from our
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current expectations. Our actual results of operations and, accordingly, cash
available for monthly distributions, will be-affected by a number of factors,
including the revenue we receive from our communities, our operating
expenses, interest expense, the ability of our residents to .meet their
obligations and unanticipated expenditures. In addition, variations in the
net proceeds from the offering as a result of the failure to sell the-maximim
number of shares offered. may affect our cash available for distribution and
available reserves, which may affect our ability to pay the contemplated,
distributions. Until the repayment of our initial borrowing under our -
current line of credit, the terms of our credit agreement restrict ys from.,
paying a dividend to our stockholders in excess of 6% pet annum;(if. .
authorized by our board of directors and provided that there is no event of
default under our credit agreement). Thereafter, there is no diyidend ... ,
restriction so long as no event of default exists under the credit agreement.

The following table shows the diétributio_ns declared and paid on éhares
of our common stock for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006: v

Distributions  Distributions

Declared - Paid
2006 S
Fourth Quarter. .........cc.o.... e " $503 '$278
Third QuUarter. . .....cverreaivenernenss 204 - 82
SecondQuarter-. ... ..ot N 31 —
First Quarter. . ... vverinnrieiieaeeros _— =
TOtal. + o eee e dieeeeannieene e $738 $360:

.

No distributions were declared or paid for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005.

The following table shows the distributions declared and paid on shares
of our 12.0% Series A Cumulative Non-Voting Preferred Stock for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. These preferred shares were issued in
a private placenient in January 2006 and all outstanding shares of such ’
preferred stock were redeemed for cash on February 15, 2007.

. Distributions  Distributions
- ) Declared Paid

2006 ‘. .
Fourth Quarter............. e
Third Quarter.......
Second Quarter




Share Redemptian Program

We have éstablished a dlstrlbutlon reinvestment plan, and may use
proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to'our distribution
reinvestment plan to redeem shares sold in connection with the offering.
Following a minimum holding period of one year, a stockholder will have
the opportunity to have his, her or its shares redeemed by us, subject to
certain restnctlons and hmttatlons 1f we are engaged in an offering, the -
redemption price will be the lesser of (i) the then-current offering price less
a discount approximating the per share commissions and fees paid to
brokers on the original sale of the shares ($9.15 per sharé inf the case of
shares repurchased during a $10.00 per share offering) or (ii) the price the
stockholder actually paid for his, her or its shares. Our board of directors
reserves the right to amend or terminate the share redemption program at
any time. The board of directors has delegated to its officers the right to™ .
(i) waive the.one- year holding perlod in the event of the death or
bankruptcy of a stockholder or other exigent circumstances or (u) reject any
request for redemptidn at any time and for any reason. Stockholders will
have no right to request redemiption of their shares should our shares
become listed on a national securmes exchange or a national securltles
market

Equity Incentwe Plans

For information regarding shares that may be |ssued in connection with
our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan and 2004 Independent Director Optlon
Plan, see Item 12. :

Use of Initial Public Offering Proceeds

We are conducting a best efforts offering of a minimum of 250,000
shares and a maximum of 100,000,000 at $10.00 per share ($1 billion),
pursuant to a Registration Statement which was declared effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June-22, 2005 (file number
333-108426). We are also.offering up to 5,000,000 shares to be issued
pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan at $9.50 per share. Investor
purchase funds are held in an escrow account and shares are issued on .
closing dates determined by management, subject to federal and state
regulatory agency requirements. Our board of directors has authorized a
reallocation of shares being offered under the primary offering and the
distribution reinvestment plan under which we plan to offer 925,000,000
shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $10.00 per share and an
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additional 12,500,000 million shares at $9.50 per share under our =~
distribution reinvestment plan. The offering will terminate no later than
July 1, 2007 (unless extended with respect to the shares offered under our
distribution reinvestment plan or as otherwise permltted by applicable law).
The dealer-manager, Boston Capital Securities, Inc., is our affiliate. We
anticipate that at least 84.55% of the proceeds of the offering will be
invested in real estate communities. We will use the remainder to pay
selling commissions and dealer-manager fees, fees and expenses relating to
the selection and acquisition of properties and the costs of the offering and
will retain 1% as working capital reserves. Additionally, under certain
circumstances a portion of the proceeds identified as the real estate
investment in communities may be set aside at the respective communities
for operating reserves. As long as there are amounts outstanding under our
current line of credit, we intend that approximately 84.55% of the proceeds
will be applied to the repayment of our current line of credit. Under the,
terms of our current line of credit, we are obligated to utilize all net
proceeds from this common stock offering to repay any amounts
outstanding under our unsecured credit facility after the payment of
(i) amounts necessary to pay a maximum dividend of 6% per annum (if
authorized by our board of directors), (ii) costs necessary to maintain our
REIT status, (iii) reasonable operating reserves and (iv) the asset
management fee payable monthly to our advisor. Therefore, we anticipate
paying all or a significant portion of distributions to stockholders from the
proceeds of the offering or from borrowings until such time as we have
sufficient cash flow from operations to fund the payment of such ’
distributions. Until such time as cash flows from operations and other
sources of cash are sufficient to fund such distribution payments, if ever, we
will have invested less than 84.55% of the proceeds of the offering in real
estate communities (or the repayment of.debt).

From the effective date of the offering through December 31, 2006, we
have incurred offering expenses of $6,237 and $7,622 in total, comprised
mainly of commissions, dealer manager fees, tegal, prospectus printing and
mailing, fulfillment labor, compliance and due diligence costs. Costs of
$2,104 were paid witli funds advanced by one of our affiliates and recorded
as due'to related party on the audited financial statements. To date, none of
the costs have been reimbursed to the affiliate,
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Item 6. . Selected Financial Data

The information set forth below presents our selected financial
information. The financial data in the table is qualified in its-entirety, and
should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial
statements listed in Item 15 hercof and the related notes thereto and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations.”

:

_ Consolidated Financial Information .
' (Dollars thousands except property and per share data)

.

. Boston Capital Real Estate lr;veslmenl Trust, Inc. BCMR Seattle inc,
{spccessor to BCMR Seattke Inc} . (predecessor)
Period
o+ Period May 15, - November 1,
2001 (date of  Period January 1, 2002 (date of
- ' . Inception) 2003 throngh inception)
Year Ended  Year Ended  Year ended through May 15, 2003 through
Decetnber 31, December 31, December 3,  December 31, (date of December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 cessation) 2002
Operating Data: 't v H o -
Revenue: . .
Rental and other incorne’. b 27,200 3 24061 $ 21,257 § 13,187 §$ 27172 $§ 33
Expcnses: ’ :
Operating Costs. . . . .. 23,584 19,230 17,276 12,045 1,549 328
Interest {net of income). 12,657 12,128 §1,818 5,821 “ 1,086 148
Total expenses. .. .. .. 36,241 - 31,358 29,095 18,866 2635 o 4%
Loss before income taxes . .. L.
and minority interest . (9,041} (7,297 (7,838) {5,679) 137 (138}
Benefit from {provision . .
for) income taxes . . . —_ —_ : — — {33) 53
Loss attributed ta .
minority interest. . . . (18 (6} -, - . — —
NetLoss.......... o 3 {9.021) $ (7.291) $ (7.838) 5_[5.679) $ B4 5 (85}
Losspershare . ...... h I 11} $  (365) $ _{(392) 3 (284) s — - E—
Cash distributions
declared per share(1) . 3 3566 - $ — 5 — s — L
Balance Sheet Data:
Real estate, before
accumulated
deprecation. .. . ... $188.580 $186,852 §169,367 5163505 5 — $53,016
Real estate, after . .
accumulated .
deprecation. , .. ... $169,151 $173.N2 $161,803 $160,610 5 - 552,968
Totalassets. .. ...... $183,103 'S 183,653 . $168,679 $176.101 5 — $55,395
Total liabilities. . ., ... $ 180,357 5204.004 $181,996 $ 181,580 5 — 346,153
Minority interest ... . . . ' 147 5 167 5 — S e 5 - 5 —
Redeemable common’
stock ..., 5169 5 - § - 5 — 5 — 5~
Stockholder's equity
(deficit), . ........ L k] 3 (20,608) ${13317) $ (5479 5~ § 9,242
Other Data:
Total properties . , , . . . S} 11 B (1] 19. P — 4
Total apartment unils . . 3,098 3,098 2,869 2,869 — 802
Cash flow - ' o
Opcrating activities. . , . $ (5.092) $ 662 | $ (3385 _§ 1581 ) $ 86 3 (4186)
Envesting activitles . ... $ (582 ${18.073) $ 3408 5§ (5M) - $ 913 - $ (8. 105)
Financing activities. . . . 5 9506 5 17,98:.! s . (M H 65 $(9.326) 3 8546

{1) Cash distributions in 2006 represented a return of capital.
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Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations
{dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction
with our accompanying financial statements'and notes thereto.

Forward looking statements

This report contains statements that may be deemed to be “forward
looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. The words “believes”, “estimates”, “expects” and
“anticipates” and other similar expressions that are predictions of or
indicate future events and trends and which do not relate solely to historical
matters identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking
statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual
results, performance, or achievements of ours to differ materially from
anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such
differences include, but are not limited to, the following:

« Anticipated capital expenditures for replacements and building
improvements all reflect our best estimates and are subject to
uncertainties arising from changing economic conditions (such as the
cost of labor and construction materials), competition and local
government regulation;

s Sources of capital or labor and materials required for maintenance,
repair, capital expenditure or development are more expensive than
anticipated;

» Occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected by
national and local economic and market conditions including,
without limitation, new construction of multifamily housing, slow
employment growth, availability of low interest mortgages for single-
family home buyers and the potential for geopolitical instability, all
of which are beyond our control; and

¢ Additional factors as discussed in Item 1A. “Risk Factors”.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof. We undertake
no obligation to publicly release any revisions to these forward-looking
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statements, which may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the
date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Overview

We were formed on May 2, 2003, and have a limited operating history.
Our operations consist of acquiring, managing and operating apartment
communities in the United States. All of our apartment communities were
purchased with funds from our former line of credit or a bank note. In
December 2006, we repaid our former line of credit and the bank note with
a combination of offering proceeds and initial borrowings under our current
line of credit. Once we sell enough shares in the offering to repay the
amount we have borrowed under our current line of credit, additional
offering proceeds will provide a relative increase in liquidity. As we use
these subsequent offering proceeds for the continued acquisition,
development and operation of apartment communities we will experience a
relative decrease in liquidity. o

We expect that we will acquire properties by paying the entire purchase
price of each property in cash or equity securities, or a combination thereof,
and the remainder with permanent mortgage financing which will encumber
all or certain properties. Though we have no current plans to do so, if our
directors deem it advisable, we may take additional loans on all or certain
communities, if favorable terms are available, and use the proceeds from
such loans to acquire additional properties and increase cash flow. In the
event that the offering is not fully sold, our ability to diversify our
investments may be diminished.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT beginning with the tax year
ended December 31, 2005: We believe that we are organized in conformity
with the requirements for taxation as a REIT for federal income taxes, but
cannot assure you that we will meet such requirements. If we fail to meet
these requirements, our distributions will not be deductible to us and we
will have to pay a corporate level tax on our income. This would
substantially reduce our cash available to pay dividends. In addition, such a
tax liability might cause us to borrow funds, liquidate some of our
investments or take other steps which could negatively affect our operating
results. Moreover, if our REIT status is terminated because of our failure to
meet a technical REIT requirement or if we voluntarily revake our election,
we would generally be disqualified from electing treatment as a REIT for
the four taxable years following the year in which REIT status is lost.
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Trends and Uncertainties

We are not aware of any material trends or uncertainties, favorable or
unfavorable, other than national economic conditions affecting real estate
generally, that may be reasonably anticipated to have a material impact on
either capital resources or the revenues or income to be derived from the
acquisition and operation of the communities, other than those identified
below. S ’

i * . 1

Increasing Demand for Rental Apartments -

Based on certain ‘demographic trends, in particular, the increase in the
number of individuals in the 18-39 year old age group, we believe we dre
well pos:tloned to continue achieving our ob]ectwes The absolute number
of individuals between the ages of 18-39 is expected to grow appreciably
over the next 20 years. 'Generally, the 18-39 year old age group has the
greatest propensity to rent. While there is no guarantee that individoals
making up this group will choose renting versus ownership, we believe that
the increase will have a positive impact on the demand for rental units,

’

Strong Demand Due to Interest Rate Environment

The 40-year historic lows reached on mortgage interest ratés in recent
vears provided some individuals with the opportunity to purchase homes at
similar costs to renting, partlcularly when utilizing short-term variable
mortgages. However, with the more recent increases in interest rates, this
attractive alternative may have faded for some and the apartment sector is
in a position to reap the benefits. If a higher interest rate environment
continues, then the number of individuals purchasing homes will typically
decline. As rental apartments directly compete with the single-family home
and condominium sectors of the economy, the demand for new and existing
rental apartment communities may ris¢ when demand for purchasing homes
falls. We believe this will be beneficial for apartment owners as it should
translate into greater demand, higher occupancy rates, fewer concessions
needed to attract renters, and therefore increased profitability of our
apartment communities. :

Increased Income and Dilﬂ"ributionsl Due to Healthy U.S. Econom)l;

Generally, healthy employment in a particular market area enables
apartment owners to increase rents charged to tenants. As employment
across locations in which we own apartment communities continues to
improve and stabilize, apartment owners in these locations should be able
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to increase rents ahead of expenses which should increase the revenue we
receive from our apartment communities. As a result, the amount of cash
available for distribution to our stockholders should increase. However, our
actual results of operations and, accordingly, cash available for distribution,
will be affected by a number of factors, including the revenue we receive
from our communities, our operating expenses, our debt obligations,
interest expense; the ability of our residents to meet their obligations, and
unanticipated expenditures. .

Liquidity and Capital Resources

It is anticipated that our primary source of funds will be the proceeds
of the offering. Potential future sources of liquidity include: (i) cash from
investments in real estate; (ii) interest earned on capital raised and held
pending investment; (iii) proceeds from secured or unsecured financing,
including from banks; (iv) undistributed funds; (v) sale of assets; and
(vi) the issuance of shares in a private offering to institutional investars.

We intend to purchase, or enter into binding commitments to purchase
interests’in certain apartment communities priof to the completion of the
offering, provided we have raised sufficient funds to pay off our initial
borrowing on our current line of credit. Properties acquired as of
December 31, 2005 were purchased with financing obtained on our former
line of credit, mortgage notes payable and through a bank note. In
December 2006, we repaid our former line of credit and bank note with a
combination of offering proceeds and 1n|tlal borrowings under our current
line of credit.

During the years ended December 3 1, 2006 and 2005, we generated net
cash flows of $5,717 and $5,418, respectively, from the properties, all of
which was used to pay interest, or will be used to pay accrued interest on
our former line of credit, bank note and current line of credit. Although |
there can be no assurances, we believe that a combination of (i) our efforts
to increase rental revenue and contain operating costs at our apartment
communities (ii) our ability to raise sufficient offering proceeds to repay our
currentline of credit and mortgage note related to our Seattle communities
or refinance the debt and (iii) our ability to defer certain discretionary
capital improvements and payments to affiliates until January 2008 will be
sufficient to meet our operating, debt service and other working capital
needs for at least one year from December 31, 2006.

Our cash and cash equivalents balance increased approximately $3,832
from approximately $1,629 at January 1, 2006 to $5,461 at December 31,




2006. All cash and cash equivalents are held in money market, certificates
of deposit, or checking accounts, The major factors affectmg our cash flows
are as follows: .

* We expended $5, 092 on operating activities:

LTS

. We expended $1 728 on building and 1mprovements and _
replacement of furniture, fixture and equipment at our communities.

» We released $1,146 of restricted cash.

o We received $40,997 of current line of credit financing proceeds and
repaid $2,907 of the obligation.

1

» We received $36,525 in proceeds from the sale of common and
+ preferred stock. ; :

¢ We repald $62, 210 of mortgage note, other note and former, line of .
credit financing.

* We increased due to related party by $1,852 for costs that did not
flow through operanons and expended $4,738 on offering costs and
deferred offering costs

¢ We paid $213 in distributions to our common and preferred
stockholders and minority partner.

Stockholders’ Equity

As of March 22, 2007, we have sold 4,958,578 shares of commop stock
from the offering resulting in proceeds of $49,563. We have also issued
45,410 shares of common stock though our dlstrlbutlon reinvestment
program. ‘ -

Current Line of Credit : . . : |

On December 6, 2006, we closed on.a $45,000 line of credit with an
unaffiliated lender, which we refer to in our audited financial statements as
line of credit-non affiliate. An initial borrowing of $40,997 has been made
on the line of credit and was used in conjunction with investor proceeds
from our offering to repay our former line of credit with an affiliate,
referred to as line of credit-affiliate in our audited financial statements, and
other note payable. Subsequent to our repayment of our initial borrowings
under the current line of credit, the credit facility will convert into a
revolving, acquisition line of credit and may then be utilized by us (i) to
fund future acquisitions; (ii) to fund capital needs associated with our

56




existing real estate portfolio, (iit) for the issuance of letters of credit on our
behalf; and (iv) for general working capital purposes. Qur current line of
credit is unsecured, bears interest at varying contract rates ranging from the
30-day LIBOR plus 225 basis points (which was approximately 7.60% as of
December 31, 2006) to prime plus 100 basis points (which was 9.25% at
December 31, 2006) and matures on January 1, 2008. As of December 31,
2006, $38,090 was outstanding on the line of credit and intérest of $210 had
been incurred and remained payable. RS

Results of Operations

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 we owned interests in 11 apartment
communities. Ten of the apartment communities in which we owned
interests owned as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are in 3 portfolios and
the remaining apartment community is a single community property.
Details on the properties are as follows:

The Seattle portfolio consists of four apartment communities
containing 802 apartment.units as follows: . -

Qccupancy  Occupancy .
Rate as of - Rate as of

Property name : ‘ o 12/31/06 12/31/05.
Alderwood Park Apartments. .................. - 98% 9%
Ridgegate Apartments ........................ 98% 91%
Ridgetop Apartments.:......... ... ... ... . 9% 97%

Wellington Apartments ....... S e 93% 98%

The Portland portfolio consists of three apartment communities
containing 1,027 apartment units as follows:" . .

Occupancy  Occupancy
‘Rate as of Rate as of

Prnnl erty name ) 12/31/06 12/31/05
Boulder Creek Apartments .................... 94% 97%
Bridge Creek Apartments ................. L 91% 97%
Settler’s Point Apartments............... e " 90% 95%
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The Jacksonville portfolio consists of three apartment communities
containing 1,040 apartment units as follows:, - R

Occupanc} - Occupancy
: Rateasof *° Rate as of
Property name

A T 123106 _12/31/05

Bay Pointe Apartments. ... .......ouevianns - 88% 93%
Savannah Qaks (formerly Oaks at Timuquana ‘

ApArtments) . . .....oevveennnienos e 88% | 90%.

Spicewood Springs Apartments. ................ 92% 94%

The Plano community consists of one apartment community containing
229 apartment units as follows: ‘ C

Qccupancy  Occupancy
v . Rate as of Rate as of
Property name 12/31/06 12/31/65

" Broadstone Preston at Willow Bend Apartments . 92% = 89%

On January 12, 2006 and July 7, 2006 fires occurred within the same
building at one of the Portland communities (Bridge Creck Apartments)
which' damaged all 18 units of that building. An investigation into the causes
of the fires was conducted by the fire department and a cause and origin -
expert hired by the insurance company concluded that the cause of the first
fire was a weakened wire in the wall between two of the apartment units.
Additionally, they determined that the weakened wire was not caused by
negligence on anyone’s part. No one was injured and displaced tenants were
relocated to vacant units within Bridge Creek Apartments and Boulder
Creek Apartments. The official cause of the second fire was determined to
be a dropped cigarette. No one was injured, and the displaced tenants were.
relocated to vacant units within Bridge Creek Apartments.

The insurance carrier’s estimate to repair the damages from both fires
is $951 of which $791 has been received to date. The unused portion of the
proceeds as of December 31, 2006 was $408 and i§ included in other '
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The tentative completion date
for repairs of all units is mid-May 2007. Anticipated costs not covered by
insurance are the payment of a $10 deductible per fire and a 10% fee for an
insurance expert, hired to negotiate the scope and pricing of the work with
the insurance carrier. As a result of the expert’s role, pricing of the
rebuilding is more comprehensive and, therefore, more competitive than
simply bidding the specifications provided by the insurer.
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Business interruption insurance has been covering lost rents on the
damaged units and expenses incurred to relocate tenants and provide
electricity to the building. As of December 31, 2006, insurance payments of -
$73 covering lost rents through September 30, 2006 had been received and
are reflected in other income on the statement of operations, and payments
of $12 had been received to reimburse expenses. Additional payment for
lost rents and expenses incurred of $26 and $1, respectively, for the period
October through December 2006 was received in January 2007.

Companson of Operations for the yéar ended December 3 1 2006 to the year
ended December 31, 2005 .

The following summarizes changes in our operations for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. Net loss for the ycar ended
Drecember 2006 increased from the same prior period by approximately
$1,732, from $7,291 to $9,023, or 23.8%. Qur fluctuation in results of
operations from 2005 to 2006 is partially due to operations at our Plano - .
community which was acquired in September 2005. As a result, our current
year results include twelve months of operations at the community while
our prior year results include approximately 3.5 months of operations at the
community. .

Revenue

Revenues increased approximately $3,139, from $24,061 to $27,200, or
13.1%, in the current year. The acquisition of our Plano community -
accounted for $1,386 of the increase. The balance of the increase was
generated by our three existing portfolios as follows. Rental income at the
Seattle communities increased approximately $559 in the current period
mainly due to increased rental rates, decreased vacancy loss, and decreased
concessions. Income at the Portland communities increased approximately
$695 in the current period mainly due to increased rental rates, decreased
vacancy loss, decreased rental concessions and increased insurance
proceeds income. Revenue at the Jacksonville communities increased
approximately $499 in the current period due to increased rental rates,
decreased vacancy loss, increased tenant utility billings and proceeds from
the settlement agreement against URS Corporation on December 21, 2006.

Property operating costs

.Property operatmg costs increased approxlmately $2,373, from $9, 032’
to $11,405, or 26.3%, in the current year. Operating costs at our Plano
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community increased by approximately $620 mainly due to the inclusion of
the additional 8.5 months of operations in the current year. Insurance costs
increased at our Jacksonville communities contributing approximately $255
to the increase. Incentive management fees increased at our Seattle
communities contributing approximately $166 to the increase. The
remainder of the increase was mainly the result of the following; increased
real estate tax.and maintenance payrolil costs at all of our apartment
communities; interior painting costs at our Jacksonville communities; deck
repair costs at our Ridgetop community; roof repair costs at our Ridgegate
community; and consultant fees incurred for overs1ght of our Bridge Creek -
community fire repairs.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $1,144,
from $3,164 to $4,308, or 36.2%, in the current year. The current year
experienced an increase in accounting, legal, and consulting expenses for - .
costs associated with being a public company registered with the-Securities
and Exchange Commission and increased investor reporting costs.. The
Plano.community contributed approximately $258 to the increase in the
current year.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased approximately $744,
from $35,666 to $6,410, or 13.1%, in the current year. Our Plano community
contributed approximately $466 to the increase. The balance of the increase
is depreciation on capital improvements made during 2005 and 2006 at our
other communities.

Portfolio management fees-related party

There were no portfolio management fees incurred during the years
ended December 31, 2006 or 2005. During the fourth quarter of 2005, our
affiliate entitled to the portfolio management fee waived all future portfolio
management fees retroactive to January 1, 2005.

Asset management fee-related party

Asset management fee-related party increased approximately $93,
from $1,368 to $1,461, or 6.8%, in the current. The increase is due to an
additional 8.5 months of fee attributed to the Plano community mcurred in
the current year.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense increased approximately $529, from $12,128 to
$12,657, or 4.4%, in the current year. The additional 8.5 months of interest
expense for our Plano community in the current year increased interest
expense approximately $746, which was partially offset by an increase in
interest income earned in the current year. Interest earned on proceeds
from our offering was the main reason for the increase in interest income.

Comparison of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 to the year.
ended Decernber 31, 2004

The following summarizes changes in our operations for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. Net loss for the year ended
December 2005 decreased from the same prior period by approximately
$547, from $7,838 to $7,291, or 7.0%. We acquired the Plano community in
September 2005 which contamed 229 units,

Revenue

Revenues increased approximately $2,804, from $21,257 to $24,061, or
13.2%, from the comparative prior period. The acquisition of our Plano
community in 2005 accounted for approximately $560 of the increase.,
Average weekly occupancy rates increased from 2004 to 2005 at each of our
existing communities. Other significant factors affecting revenue are as
follows. Collection loss at the three Jacksonville properties, which is
charged against revenue, increased during 2004. As a result, management
changed credit reporting agencies and increased credit standard
requirements for all new tenants. The result has been an improved tenant
profile and a reduction in collection loss. Additionally, two Jacksonville
properties, Bay Point Apartments and Savannah Oaks Apartments, were
acquired with the intention of renovating between 53% and 69% of the
units, respectively. These renovations were completed throughout 2003 and
2004, and all units were back in service by the beginning of 2005. These
improvements enabled the complexes to increase rental rates at Bay Point
and Savannah Qaks by averages of 4.9% and 8.2%, respectively, on the
renovated units. Occupancy has stabilized at both apartment complexes
with improved revenues as a result of the increased occupancy and higher”
rental rates. Revenues at Wellington Apartments, in Silverdale, WA also
improved in’ the current year due to improved occupancy. In the prior year
the apartment complex lost 15% of its leases when an aircraft carrier
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stationed in the area departed. In January 2005 another ship arrived which
enabled the property to stabilize occupancy and increase rental rates.

Property operating costs

Property operating costs decreased approximately $317, from $9,349 to
$9,032, or 3.4%, from the comparative period. Non-recurring costs incurred
in 2004 at our Portland and Seattle communities for repair and
maintenance costs were not incurred in 2005. These savings were partlal]y
offset by 2005 property operating costs at our Plano community

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $301,
from $2,863 to $3,164, or 10.5%, from the comparative prior period. Our
Plano community contributed approximately $70 to the increase from the
prior year. Additionally, 2005 experienced an increase in accounting, legal,
and consulting expenses for costs associated with being a public company
registered with the Securities and Exchange.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expéense increased approximately
$1,010, from $4,656 to $5,666, or 21.7%, from the comparative prior period.
Our Plano community contributed approximately $215 to-the increase.
Additionally, capital improvements were made at the communities in our
three portfolios throughout 2004 and 2005. These improvements are being
depreciated over their estimated useful lives and have 1ncreaqed
deprematlon expense accordlngly

Portfolio management fees-related party

Portfolio management fee expense decreased from $408 at
December 31, 2004 to $0 at December 31, 2005. During the fourth quarter
of 2005, our affiliate entitled to the portfolio management fee waived ail
future portfolio management fees retroactive to January 1, 2005.

Asset management fee-related party B

Asset management fee-related party increased to approximately $1,368
at- December 31, 2005 from $0 in the comparative prior period. No asset
management fees were incurred in the prior period since the advisor had
waived its right to all asset management fees from inception through
December 31, 2004.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense increased approximately $309, from $11,819 to
$12,128, or 2.6%, from the comparative prior period. Our Plano community
contributed to the increase in interest 'expense from the prior year.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are
reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
opetations, liquidity, capital expendltures or capltal resources that are
material to mvestors ' :

Contractual Obhgatmns

We pay operatmg expenses and interest expense from cash gencrated
from property operations. Below is a summary of our other material
obligations by maturity as of December 31, 2006.

Less than . More than
1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years § years Total

Mortgages . .. ... $ 7,930 $112,557 §— $11,981 $132,468
Current Line of : o

Credit ....... — 38,090(a) - — —_ 38,090
Due to Related ' . .

Party ........ 5,347(b) — = — 5,347
Total .......... $13,277 $150,647 = $11,981 $175,905

(a) Weare obligated to use proceeds from the public offering to repay our current line of
credit financing,

{(b) Payments of amounts due to related parties, although currently due, can be deferred
until such time as cash from operations or proceeds from our public offering is sufficient
to pay the obligations, ’

Critical Accounting Policies

In order to prepare our financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, we are
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
teported in the financial statements, On a regular basis, we review these
estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenue recognition,
allocation of purchase price, asset lives and depreciation and impairment of
long-lived assets. These estimates are based on our historical experience
and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the
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circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. We believe, however, that the
estimates, including those for the above-]lsted items, are reasonable. We
believe the following critical accounting policies involve the, most complex,
difficult and subjective judgments and estimates used in the preparation of
these financial statements:

Revenue Recogmnon ‘ ' o .

Tenant leases are classified as operatmg leases Rental income
attributable to leases is recorded when due from tenants and is recogmzed
monthly as it is earned, which is not materially different from on a straight- ,
line basis. Leases between a tenant and property for the rental of an
apartment unit are generally year-to-year, renewable upon consent of both
parties on an annual or monthly basis. Interest income is recorded on an

accrual basis. . ; N

Allocation of Purchase Price, Asset Lives and Depreciation

The acquisition cost of each apartment community is allocated to
various property components such as land, buildings and improvements,
and furniture, fixtures and equipment and each component generally has a
different useful life. Acquisition cost allocations and the determination of
the useful lives are based on our management’s estimates, or under some
circumstances, studies commissioned from independent real estate
appraisal firms. We allocate the value of real estate acquired among land,
building and improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, the value of
in-place leases and the fair market value of above or below market leases.
We compute related depreciation expense using the straight line method
over estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings, up to 15 years for
building improvements, and up to 5 years for furniture, fixtures and
equipment. The value of intangible assets is amortized over the life of the
respective lease, which is typically one year. The allocated cost of land is not
depreciated. Inappropriate allocation of acquisition costs or incorrect ‘
estimates of useful lives could result in depreciation and amortization
expenses which do not appropriately reflect the allocation of our capital
expenditures over future perlods required by generally accepted accounting
principles. '

¢




Impairment of Assets _ .- e B

We periodically evaluate our apartment communities for impairment
indicators. These indicators may include weak or declining tenant
occupancy, cash flow or liquidity, or our decision to dispose of an asset
before the end of its estimated useful life, and market or industry changes
that could permanently-reduce the value of the related apartment .
community. If impairment indicators are present, we evaluate the carrying’
value of the related apartment community by comparing it to the expected
future undiscounted cash flows to be generated from that community. If the
sum of these expected future cash flows is less than the carrying value, we
reduce the net carrying value of the community to its fair value, This
analysis requires us to judge whether indicators of impairment exist and to -
estimate likely future cash flows. If we misjudge or estimate incorrectly or if
future tenant occupancy, market or industry factors differ from our
expectations, we may record an impairment charge which is inappropriate’
or fail to record a charge when we should have done so, or thie amount of
such charges may be inaccurate.

These policies involve significant judgments based upon our
experience, including judgments about current valuations, ultimate
realizable value, estimated useful lives, salvage or residual values, and the
current and likely future operating and competitive environments in which
our apartment communities are operated. In the future we may need to
Tevise our assessments to incorporate information which is not now known,
and such revisions could increase or decrease our depreciation expense. .

\
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, or FIN 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”. This interpretation clarifies
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s
financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
FIN 48 also provides guidance on description, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interitn periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, in which the
impact of adoption should be accounted for as a cumulative-effect
adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. We are currently
evaluating the effect, if any, that this pronouncement will have on our
future financial results.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk « -

. We had one variable rate line of credit outstanding as of December 31,
2006 in the amount of $38,090, which is subject to market risk associated
with interest rate changes. The remainder of our debt at December 31, 2006
is fixed rate debt. All of our long-term debt is fixed rate debt with interest
rates ranging from 4.29% to 5.149%. Our short-term debt is a combination
of fixed rate and floating rate debt with interest rates ranging from the
Libor Index.Rate plus 225 basis points (approximately 7.6% at
December 31, 2006) to 12.0%. The weighted average interest rate on debt
outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was 5.62% and
6.38%, respectively. We do not have any derivative investment, direct
foreign cxchange, or other market risk. Managemient estimates that, as of
December 31, 2006, a one percentage point increase in interest rateson -
variable rate outstanding debt would result in additional annual interest of -
$381 per year. An analysis of the fair market values of the debt held at
December 31, 2006 is set forth below.

Expected Maturity Date(4)
Fair
. ’ . Market
2007 2008 2009 2010 2014 Total Value(2)
* ) (Dollars in thousands) ’
~“Liabilitles
Long Term Debt '
Jacksonville, .. ... Fixed Rate (§US) $. 0 § 0+ S0 $35374 § 0 $35374  $3a0R2
Avg:Interest Rate + 0% 0% - 0% 4.29% 0% — 5.49%(1)
Sealtle .. ..... .. Fixed Rate (SUS) & 0 $37.850 30 8 0o s ¢ $37850 $37.417°
Avg. Interest Rate 0% 4.67% 0% 0% 0% — 575%(1}
Poriland/Salt '
Lake City. .. .. Fixed Rare ($US) $ 0 0 50, $39333 - § 0 339,333 338546
, Awvg. Interest Rate 0% % 0% 4.58% 0% — . 5.49%(1)
Plano Mortgage .
Loan.,...... Fired Rate (SUS) § ¢ $ 0 $0 § . 0 S11,981 SI1981 S11,712
Avg. [nterest Rate 0% 0%_ 0% % 5.14% — 5.49%(1)
Short Term Debt
Lineof Credit . ... FloatingRate ($US) § 0 $38.090 o8 0 5 0 $3809¢ $380% .
Avg. Interest Rate 0% T.I8%3) 0% ’0% 0% — 1.78%(3)
Seattle Second :
Mortgage Loan . .  Fixed Rate ($US) . $793% § 0 | JURN 4 0§ 0 $7930 §$ 793
Avp, Interest Rate 12% 0% LY 0% % — 12%(1)
Notes: ’

(1 Estimated fair value rates represent estimated rates a borrower would receive under current market conditions. The
individual estimated fair rates were calculated using a treasory rate that coincides with the remaining time peried on
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each note. In addition, a conservative spread of 1.0% was added to the treasury rates to come up with the estimated
fair valtue rate for each portfolio. -

2) Fair Market Value represents the net present vatue of the debt at the estimaté fair value rates. Since the estimated fair
value rates ore higher than the actual interest rates, shere is a premium (the difference between the principal balance
and the Fair Market Value) that a potential buyer should pay if he or she were to assume the debt. This is evidenced
by the lower principal amount that these cash flows support at the higher estimated fair value rates. Alternatively, in
the event that the estimated fair value rates werce lower than the actual interest rates on these notes, then a property
buyer assuming the debt would expect to receive a discount, caleulating Fair Market Value using the methodology
shown above.

! ' . .
(3) Average rate on four variable rate contracts outstanding at December 31, 2006. ranging fram 1-month Libor phus 225 .

bpts to Prime phus 100 bpts. t
“ For prcscnlaiiun'ﬁurpbscs.‘un!y years with actual debt maturities are displayed. -
Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item is contained in Part IV, Item 15
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting
and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an
evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures. In designing and evaluating our disclosure
controls and procedures, we and our management recognize that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only a reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment
in evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedures. Based
upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective
to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. In connection with
the rules regarding disclosure and control procedures, we intend to
continue to review and document our disclosure controls and procedures,
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including our internal controls and procedures for financial reporting, and
may from time to time make changes aimed at enhancing their effectiveness
and to ensure that our systems evolve with our business.

(b) Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2006 that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting. '

¥

Item 9B. Other Information

None
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PART ill
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to
our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission no later
than April 30, 2007. The Company has adopted a Business Code of
Conduct covering all employees, which is available, free of charge, on the
Company’s website, www.bostoncapital.com. '

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to
our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission no later
than April 30, 2007. .

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial lOwners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to
our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission no later-
than April 30, 2007. -

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director
Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to
our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission no later
than April 30, 2007.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to
our Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commission no later
than April 30, 2007.
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Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this-annual rcport on
Form 10 K.

1. Financial Statements .

Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.. .‘.‘ LT F2
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accouiiting Firms ... .. ... F3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005...... F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yéars ended F-5

December 31,2006, 2005and 2004 ...... ... ..o, !
Consolidated Statements of Stockholder’s Deficit for the years ended " F-6
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 .. ........ ..o

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended E-7
December 31, 2006,2005and 2004 . ... 0 .0 Lol o :
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ...m..0.0.. ... L F-8

2. Financial Statement Schedules . ' B

Schedule III—Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation ... S-1
“The-financial statements and financial statement schedules are filed as
part of this report. All other schedules are omitted because they are not

applicable or the required information is included in the notes to- the
financial statements. :
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3. Exhibits

31

3.2
3.2(a)

33

34

4.1

4.2

43

10.1

[ I L

Articles of Amendment and Restatement of the Company
(prewously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426) on June 16, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

" Bylaws of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the

Registration Statement on Form §-11 (File _Nb. 333-108426) on
June 16, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.) .

Amendment No. 1 to the Bylaws of the Company (previously,

filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K on May 5,
2006 and mcorporated herein by reference )

Limited Liability Company Agreement of. BC-GFS LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.5 to the Registration Statement on
Form §-11 (File No. 333-108426) on October 4, 2004 and
mcorporared herein by reference.)

"Amendment No. 1 to'BC-GFS LLC Limited Liability Company

Agreement (previously filed as Fxhibit 3.6 to the Registration
Statement on Form §-11 (File No. 333-108426) on January 24,
2005 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Company (previously
filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11
(File No. 333-108426) on December 22, 2003 and mcorporated
herein by reference. )

Form of Subscription Agreement and Subscription Agreement
Signature {previously filed as Exhibit B to the Prospectus on
April 7,2006 and incorporated herein by reference.) .

Articles Supplementary relating to 12.0% Series A Cumulative
Non*Voting Preferred Stock of the Company {previously filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K on February 3,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference.) -

2004 Equity Incentive Plan (previously ﬁlecf as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426) on

January 24, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.2

10.3

104 -

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Forms of Option Agreement and Restricted Stock Grant
Agreement under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (previously

' filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11

(File No. 333- 108426) on Apnl 9, 2004 and mcorporated herein by

‘reference.)

Form of Independent Director Stock Option Plan (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11
(File No. 333-108426) on Apnl 9 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

" Form of Option Agrecment under the Independent Director

Stock Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426) on
April 9, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Second Amended and Restated Advisory Services Agreement
between Boston Capital REIT Advisors, LLC and the Company
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-1I (File No. 333-108426) on July 19, 2005 and

~ incorporated herein by reference.)
- Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated

Advisory Services Agreement between Boston Capital REIT
Advisors, LLC and the Company (previously filed as

Exhibit 10.5(b) to the Registration Statemerit on Form S-11
(Filé No. 333-108426) on April 7, 2006 and incorporated herein
by reference)

Credit Agreement, dated as.of December 6, 2006, among the
Company, as the Borrower, Wachovia Bank; National
Association, as-Administrative Agent and L/C Issucr, Wachovia
Capital Markets LLC, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Lead
Book Manager, and the Other Lender Parties Thereto
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on

Form 8-K on December 7, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.)

Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Plan, dated as of
April 6, 2006 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426) on Apnil 7, 2006
and incorporated herein by reference. )
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109 .

10.10

10.11

10.12

10,13

10.14.

10.15
ro

Property-Management-Agreement, dated December 12, 2002,
between GFS Alderwood LLC and Pinnacle Realty:
Management Company (Exhibits A; B & C only) (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.91 to the Registration Statement on Form §-11
(File No. 333-108426) on September 2, 2003 and mcorpomted
herein by reference.)

Property Management Agreement dated December 12, 2002
between GFS Ridgetop LLC and Pinnacle Realty Management

- .*Company (Exhibits A, B & C only) (previously filed as

Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statemerit on Form 5-11 (File
No. 333-108426) on December 22,2003 and incorpomted herein
by reference.) Cr e .

Property Management Agreement dated December 12, 2002,

" between GFS Wellington LLC and Pinnacle Realty

Management Company (Exhibits A, B & C only) (previously

, filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11

(File No. 333-108426) on December 22, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference.),

Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan
(previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
on August 4, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Amended and Restated Escrow Agreenient between Boston
Private Bank & Trust Company and the Company (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Registration Statement on Form $-11
(File No. 333-108426) on April 7, 2006 and mcorporated herein by
reference. ) v ¢

Property Management Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2006, by
and between BC-Bainbridge ‘Bay Pointe LL.C and Steven D.
Bell and Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K on May 5, 2006 and mcmporared herein by
reference.) .

- Property Management Agreement, dated as 6f May 1, 2006, by

and between BC-Bainbridge Tumuquana LL.C and Steven D,

‘Bell and Company (previously filed as Fxhibit 10.2 to the Current

Report on Form 8- K on May 5 2006 and mcorpomted herein by

reference.)
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10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

. Property Management Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2006, by

and between BC-Bainbridge Spicewood LLC and Steven D,
Bell and Company (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Repaort on Form 8-K on May 5, 2006 and mcorporated herein by

- reference.),

Property Management Agreement, dated May 29, 2003,

. between BC-GFS Settler’s:Point LLC and American
-Management Services Northwest, LLC, dba Pinnacle (previously

filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 .
(File No. 333- 108426) on December 22, 2003 and mcorporated
herein by reference.)

Property Management Agreement, dated May 29,2003,

. between BC-GFS Bridge Creek LLC and American

Management: Services Northwest, LLC, dba Pinnacle (previously

. filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11

(File No. 333-108426) on December 22, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference:)

Property Management Agreement,'dated May 29, 2003,
between BC-GFS Boulder Creek LLC and Americdn
Management Services Northwest, LLC, dba Pinnacle (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration Statement on Form §-11

. (File No. 333-108426) on December 22, 2003 and incorporated

herein by reference.) .
Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property (Bay Pointe

- Apartments), dated February 11, 2003, between Vestcor-Bay

Pointe Partners, Ltd. and Bainbridge Communities Acquisition
Corporation II, as amended and assigned to BC-Bainbridge Bay
Pointe LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426) on December 22,
2003 and incorporated herein by reference. ).

Agreement for Sale and Purchase of Property (Oaks at
Timuquana Apartments), dated February 11, 2003, between
VCP-Timuquana Associates, Ltd. and Bainbridge Communities
Acquisition Corporation 11, as amended and assigned to BC-
Bainbridge Timuquana LLC (prewously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (FileNo. 333-108426) on
December 22, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference. )}
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10.22

1023 -

10.24

10.25:

10.26

10.27

1028

- Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated April 2, 2003, between ERP

Operating Limited Partnership and Bainbridge Communities

- Acquisition Corporation I, as amended and assigned to BC-

Bainbridge Spicewood LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426)
on December 22, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference.)

.'Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated March 27, 2003, among

EQR-FANCAP 2000A Limited Partnership, EQR-Bridgecreek

"Vistas, Inc. and Goodman Financial Services, Inc. (with respect

to Boulder Creek and Bridge Creek), as amended (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Registration Statement on Form 5-11
File No. 333-108426) on April 9, 2004 and incorporated herein by
reference. ).

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement dated May 2, 2003,

‘from Goodman Financial Services, Inc. to BC-GFS II LLC

(previously filed as Exhibit 10.24 to the Registration Statement on

- Form §-11 (File No. 333-108426) on April 9, 2004 and

incorporated herein by reference.)

Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated March 26, 2003, between
ERP Operating Limited Partnership and Goodman Financial
Services, Inc. (with respect to Settler’s Point), as amended
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426) on April 9, 2004 and
mcorporated herein by reference. )

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated May 2, 2003,
from Goodman Financial Services, Inc. to BC-GFS II LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Registration Statement on
Form §-11 (File No. 333- 108426) on April 9, 2004 and

) mco:pomted herein by reference. y

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated May 21,
2003, from BC-GFS II LLC to BC-GFS Boulder Creek LLC

_-{previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Registration Statement on
. Form §-11 (File No. 333-108426) on April 9, 2004 and
_incorporated heréin by reference.

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated May 21,
2003, from BC-GFS II LLC to BC-GFS Bridge Creek LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Registration Staterment on
Form $-11 (File No. 333-108426) on April 9, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.38

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement, dated May 21,
2003, from BC-GFS 11 LLC to BC-GFS Settler’s Point LL.C
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.29 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No. 33-108426) on April 9, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference. )} .

Washington Portfolio Real Estate Agreement, dated July 11,
2002, among ERP. Operating Limited Partnership, EQR-

. Alderwood Limited Partnership; EQR-Wellington, L.L.C.; and

Goodman Financial Services, Inc., as amended (previously ﬁled
as Exhibit 10.30 to the Registration Statement on Form §-11 (File
No. 333-108426) on Apnl 9, 2004 and mcorpomted herem by

-reference.)

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement to BC-GFS LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.31 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No.-333-108426) on April 9, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference.) - .-

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement with 1espect to
Alderwood from BC-GFS LLC to GFS Alderwodd LLC
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No. 333-108426} on April 9, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference.)

Assignment of Real Estate Sale Agreement with respect to
Ridgetop from BC-GFS LLC to GFS Ridgetop LLC (previously
filed as Exhibit 10.33 to the Registration Statement on Form §-11
(File No. 333-108426) on Apnl 9, 2004 and mcorporated herein by

" I reference.) -

Assignmeént of Real Estate Sale Agreemem with respect to
Wellington from BC-GFS L1C to GFS Wellington LLC
{previously filed as Exhibit 10.34 to the Registration Statement on

- Form §-11 (File No. 333-108426) cmApn’l 9, 2004 and
. incorporated herein by reference.)

Property Management Agreement for Preston at Willow Bend
Apartments, Plano, Texas, dated September 15, 2005, by and
between BC Broadstone Preston, LP and Alliance Residential,
LLC (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on
Forin 8-K on September 21, 2005 and mcorporated herein by
reference. ) .
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10.41

21

31.1*

31.2*

32.1**

322

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by the
Company with each of its directors {(previously filed as _
Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K on February 3, |
2000 and incorporated herein by reference.)

Subsidiaries of the Company (previously filed as Exhibit 21 to the
‘Annual Report on Form 10-K on March 31, 2006 and
tncorporated herein by reference.)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

"Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pur.suant to

- 18 U.8.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to

18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

*  Filed ‘herewith. '

¥k

Furnished herewith.

77




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 29, 2007

BosSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE
INVESTMENT TRUST INC:

By: /s/ JOHN. P. MANNING _

John P. Manning-
Chief Executive Officer

“ Pursuant to the require'mems:(')f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the

registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

DATE

Date: March 29, 2{)07.

Date: March 29, 2007

Date: March 29, 2007

Date: March 29, 2007
Date; March 29, 2007

Date: March 29, 2007

SIGNATURE

{s/ John P. Manning

John P. Manning

/s Jeffrey H. Goldstein

Jeffrey H. Goldstein

/s/ Marc N. Teal

Marc N. Tea!l

/s/ Philip S. Cottone

Philip S. Cottone

/s/ Nicholas L. lacuzio

Nicholas L. lacuzio

/s/ Kevin C. Phelan

Kevin C. Phelan
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Chairman, Chief
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Director (Principal
Executive Officer)

President, Chief
Operating Officer,
Director '

Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial
Officer, Treasurer,
Secretary (Principal
Financial and
Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Boston Capxtal Real
Estate Investment Trust, Inc.

We have audited the accompanymg consolldated balance sheets of
Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (the “Cofripany”) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the rélated consolidated statements of
operatlons stockholdcrs equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2006, Our audits also included the
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These
financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on.these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the -
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the-financial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration
of internal control over financial reportlng as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to.above present ,
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Boston
Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the two years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, for the period from January 1, 2005 to
December 31, 2006 when considered in refation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the
information set forth therein,

_/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

oston, Massachusetts
arch 27, 2007




Reznick Group, P.C..

7700 Old Georgetown Road, Suite 400 Bethesda, MD 20814-6224
* Phone 301.652.9100, Fax 301.652.1848 =~
www.reznickgroup.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Sharcholder Co :
of Boston Capltal Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.

We have’ audlted thc accompanying consolidated balance sheet of
Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (a Maryland
corporation) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004, and the related
consolidated statement of operations, changes in shareholder’s deficit, and
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consohdated financial
statements based on our audit. : . :

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company has determined that it is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. Our audit inctuded consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.-An audit .
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Boston
Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. -

F-2 .




The accompanying consolidated financial statements were previously
restated to increase accrued interest, accrued expenses and the accumulated
deficit by $265,000, $114,000 and $379,000, respectively, for a restatement
made to the 2003 consolidated statement of operations. As that restatement
was previously reported, there is no reference to that restatement in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

We have also audited Schedule IIT for the year ended December 31,
2004. In our opinion, this schedule presents fairly, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, in all material
respects, the information therein.

/st licznick Group, P.C.

Bethesda, Maryi;ind
March 25, 2003, except for the third pafagraph in note A,

as to which the date is February 10, 2006 and the fourth
paragraph of this opinion as to which the date is March 29, 2006
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTA'i‘E INVESTMENT TRUST, IN‘C..
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS '
(Dollars in thousands except share amounts).
' ) Decémber 31; December 31,

2006. : 2005
Assets:
Real Estate ! . ot .
Land .............. e e § 31,084 $ 31,084 .
Building and improvements ... 0. ... L ool 148,972 147,478
Furniture, fixturesand equipment . ... ... ...ooan i ian, 8,524 -, 8,290,
: . 188,580 186,852
Less accumulated depreciation . . ... ... . o0 on (19,429) T (13,140)
169,151 173,712
Cash and cash equivalents. ... .. ... .o iiueiveeanann - 5461 1,629
Accounts receivable-tenants, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $28 and 30, respectively. .............. ..., 115 156
Cash M EStTOW . . oottt it et e in it 2,023 , 2,889
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of - '
$1,562 and $1,053, respectively. . ... iai i 1,040 1,240
Other assets, net of accumulated amortization of $211 and.$90, .
respectively .. ... e 5,313 4,027
Total ASSELS. . . .ottt i ' $183,103 $183,653
Liabilities: ’ ‘ ’ -
Mortgage notespayable ..... ... ... oo i §132,468 $132,525
Othernotepayable .. .......... oo — 5,556
Line of credit-non affiliate . ........... ... ... . ... .. . 38,090 —
Line of eredit-affiliate. . . . ... .. ... . . i s — 56,597
Interest payable on line of credit-affiliate . . ... ............ — 366
Accounts payable and accruedexpenses .. . ... ... Ll 3,156 3,379
Duetorelated Pacty .. ..ot i 5,347 4,825
Otherliabilities. ... ... . oot 1,314 846
Distributions payable .. ....... ... ... .. o e 182 —
Total Liabilities . . . ... it i 180,557 204,094
Commitments and contingencies
Minority interest - . . ... .. e 147 167
Redeemable commonstock. ... ..o oo i o 169 —
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Preferred stock, $.001 par vatue, 50,000,000 shares authorized,
250 shares classified and designated as 12% Series A
cumulative non-voting shares, 173 of the 12% Series A
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 ($87
liquidation preference). . ... oot ’ — —
Common stock, $.001 par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized,
3,681,606 and 20,000 shares issued, and outstanding at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively . ............. 4 —
Additional paid-incapital . ... ... ... ool 32,788 200
Distributions in excess of accumulated earnings . ......... .. (562) —
Redeemable commonstock ....... .. . o ot (169) —
Accumulated deficit ... ... . e (29.831) (20,808)
Total Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) ....................... 2,230 {20,608)
Total Liabilities, Minority Interest and Stockholders’ Equity
(Deficit). . v e e e e $183,103 $183,653

See accompanying notes.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

Revenue

Rental revenue...............
Otherrevenue ...............

Expenses

Property operating costs. . .. ..,

General and administrative . . . .

Depreciation and amortization .

Portfolio management fees- _
related party. .. ... PR e

Asset management fee-related

Operating income ..............
Interest (income) expense
Interest expense on line of
credit—affiliate ............
Interest expense—other.......
Amortization of deferred
financing costs .............
Interestincome ..............

Loss before minority interest. . . ..
Loss attributed to minority interest.

Loss per share-basic and diluted. .

Weighted average common shares

outstanding—basic and diluted .

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2004
$ 27,003 $24,061 $21,257
197 - — —
27,200 24,061 21,257
11,405 9,032 . 9,349
4,308 - 3,164 2,863
6,410 5,666 4,_656
— — 408
1,461 1,368 - —
23,584 19230 ° . 17276
3616 4831 3,981
5152 5377 5,466
7,286 . 6,336 6,046
509 430 332
(290) . {15y (25)
12,657 12,128 11,819
(9,041) (7,297)  (7.838)
(18} © =
- § (9,023) -3$(7,291) $(7,838)
$. (10) " § (369 $ (392)
904,789 20,000 20,000

See accompanying notes.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31,  December 31, December 31,
> 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities .
Netloss oo iiaen e, $ (9,023) $ (7,291} $ (7,838)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to )
net cash provided by {used in)
operating activities i .
Depreciation and amortization . . . 6,410 5,666 4,656
Laoss attributed to minority interest . (s (6) —
Changes in assets and liabilities
{(Increase} decrease in accounts
receivable—tenants ........ 41 . %) 25
Increase in cash in escrow .... ., (280) (43) (26)
(Increase) decrease in other
L BSSEIS. i iiaa s (77) (315) 37
Increase (decrease) in interest
payable on line of credit—
affiliate . ..o, - (366) 40 (1.049)
Increase (decrease) in accounts
payable and accrued expenses (223) - 896 376
Increase (decrease) in due to
relatedparty .. ............ (1,330) 1,496 370
Increase in other liabilities. . . . . 468 228 64
Net cash provided by (used in) i !
operating activities . ... ... (5,092) 662 (3,385}
Cash flows from investing activities ' ’
Investment in real estate .. ..... ... {1,728) (17,485) {5,862)
Otherassets.........ccovviunnn.. — (207) —
(Deposits into) withdrawals from cash
iNescrow .................... 1,146 - (381} 9,270
Net cash (used in) provided by
investing activities. ....... (582) « {18,073) 3.408

See accompanying notes.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
* CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(Dollars in thousands)

: ' - Year ended Year ended Year ended
: . December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 - 2004
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from morigage notes ,
payable............ ... .. ... _ 23,981 -
Payments on mortgage note payable . 5n : (12,052) (43)
(Payment of} proceeds from other
noté payable. . ................ (5.556) 5556 —
Payment of line of credit—alffiliate. . {56,597) -— —
Proceeds from line of credit—mnon e
afftiate. . ........ o e 40,997 - —_— —
Payments on line of credit—non
affiliate. ... ... oL il (2,507 T - —
Financing costs paid. . .. .......... (309) R VAT —
Amortization of financing costs. .. .. 509 430 332
Advances from related party . ... ... 1,852 T 1,953 698
Payment of deferred offering costs . . (636) C(1,822) (1,064)
Payment of equity issuance costs. . .. {4,102) — . —
Proceeds frem sale of preferred stock. . 87 — —
Proceeds from sale of common stock . . 36,438 ) — —
Distributions to common stockholders . (207 — —
Distributions to preferred
stockholders. .. ............... 4) 3 — —
Proceeds from minority interesi . . .. — ) 175 —
Distributions to minority partner. . . . ] ) (2) -
Net cash provided by (used in) .
financing activities ....... 9,506 17,982 N
Net increase (decrease) in cash ,
and cash equivalents. . . . .. 3,832 . a7l (54)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period. ... ... ...l 1,629 1,058 1,112
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . $ 5461 $ 1,629 $ 1,058
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid (includes $5,518, $5,337
and $6,515, respectively, of related
partyinterest). .. ..... ... .00 .. $ 12,600 $ 11,615 $12,561
Common and preferred stockholder
distributions accrued . .. ........ 182 $ — I
Common stockholder distributions
reinvested in accordance with our
distribution reinvestment program . § 169 $ — L I

See accompanying notes.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2006
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE A—ORGANIZATION

Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. (we or our), a
Maryland Corporation, was formed on May 2, 2003 and commenced
operations on May 15, 2003. We are a real estate, company engaged in the
acquisition, ownerﬂhlp, managcment and operatlon of market rate
apartment communities. We were initially capitalized by the sale of 20,000
shares of $.001 par value commion stock to an affiliated entity. The offer
price of $10.00 per share resulted in gros$ proceeds of $200,000. We have
elected to qualify as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, under the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended, commencing with the taxable
year ended December 31, 2005. We are currently offering our common
stock pursuant to a public offermg that is described below.

Boston Capital REIT Advisors, LLC is one of our affiliates and our
advisor under the terms and conditions of an advisory agreement. Our
advisor identifies and, subject to the approval of our board of directors,
makes acquisitions and investments on our behalf. We have no employees
of our own. Our advisor is wholly-owned by Boston Capltal Holdings
Limited Partnership. Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is the
general partner of and owns a controlling limited partnership interest in
Boston Capital Holdings Limited Partnership. Certain of our officers and
directors are also officers of our advisor.

We have filed a Registration Statement on Form 5-11 and the related
prospectus, as amended and supplemented (the “Prospectus”), with the
Securities and Exchange Commission that became effective June 22, 2005 in
Connectlon with our public offering of up to 100,000,000 shares of our
common stock at a price of $10.00 per share. The registration statement
also’covers the offermg of up to 5,000,000 shares of common stock pursuant
to our distribution reinvestment plan. Until the subscribing investors are
admitted as stockholders, all subscription proceeds are placed in’an escrow
account. Intérest earned on escrowed funds is paid to' investors whose funds
are held in escrow in excess of 20 days, subject to certain limitations. The
rate as of December 31, 2006 was 3.75%. As of December 31, 2006, we sold
3,643,817 shares from our offering raising net proceeds of $36,424 and in
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE A—ORGANIZATION (Continued)

addition, issued 17,789 sh.lres pursuant to-our distribution reinvestment
plan. " :

'We have experienced l0sses since mceptlon We believe that a
combination of our efforts to (1) increase rental revenue and contain
operating costs at our apartment communities; (ii) raise sufficient offering
proceeds to repay our line of credit and mortgage note related to our
Seattle communities or refinance the debt; and (iii) defer certain
discretionary capital improvements and payments to affiliates until
January 2008, will be sufficient to meet our operating, debt service and
other working capltal needs for at least one year from December 31, 2006.

As of December 31, 2006 2005 and 2004 we owned interests in11, 11
and 10 apartment communities, respectively.

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACC'OUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting

The accompanying audited consolidated ﬁnanc1a1 statements have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

Principles of Conseolidation

The consolidated financial statements include our mterest in wholly-
owned and majority-owned or controlling operating limited liability
companies that own apartment communities. Minority interest relates to
the interest in a property partnership we do not wholly own. All inter-
company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolldatton

Real Estate

Real estate is stated at cost All our real estate has been pledged as
security for various notes payable as described more fully in Note C.

We account for our real estate acquisitions using the purchase method
of accounting in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The fair value of the real estate acquired is allocated to the acquired
tangible assets, consisting of land, building and tenant improvements, and
identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above-
market and below-market leases and the value of in-place leases, based in
each case on their fair values.

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property (which
includes land, building and improvements) is determined by valuing the
property as if it were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then atlocated
to land, building and tenant improvements based on our determination of
the relative fair values of these assets. We déetermine the as-if-vacant fair
value of 2 property using methods similar to those used by independent
appraisers.

In allocating the fair value of the identified intangible assets and
liabilities of an acquired property, above-market and below-market in-place
lease values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate
which reflects the risks associated with the leases acqmred) of the '
difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the
in-place leases and (ii) our estimate of fair market lease rates for the
corresponding in-place leases, measured over a period equal to the
remaining non-cancelable term of the lease. Our leases do not currently
include fixed-rate renewal periods. At December 31, 2006, we have not
identified any above-market or below—market leases.

The aggregate value of other acqmrcd intangible assets, consnstmg of
in-place leases, is measured by the excess of 1) the purchase price paid for a
property after ad]ustmg existing m-place leases to market rental rates over
(i) the estimated fair value of the property as if vacant. Factors we
considered in performmg these analyses include an'estimate of carrying
costs during the expected Jease-up periods considering current market
conditions and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating carrymg costs
¢ include real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expenses and’
estimates of lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up periods based




BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

on current market demand. We also estimate costs to execute similar leases
including leasing commissions, legal and other related costs. The value of
in-place leases exclusive of the value of the above-market and below-market
in-place leases is amortized to expense over the remaining non-cancelable
periods of the respective leases. If a lease were to be terminated prior to its
stated expiration, all unamortized amounts relating to that lease would be
written off. At December 31, 2005, we had allocated a value of $207 to in
place leases associated with the acquisition of the Plano community. This
allocated value (net of amortization) was included in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2006 the amount was fully
amortized.

Depreciation

Buildings and furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated on the
straight line basis over 40 and 5 years respectively, from the date of
acquisition. Building 1mprovements are depreciated on the straight line
basis over their esfimated service lives, as determined by management,
generally between 5and 15 years. Depreciation expense for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $6,289, $5, 576 and $4,656,
respectlvely

Impairment

We periodically evaluate our long-lived assets, including our
investments in real estate, for impairment indicators in accordance with
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets”. The judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators
are based on factors such as operational performanée, market conditions,
expected holding period of each asset and legal and environmental
concerns. We have not identified any impairment indicators and
consequently have not recognlzed an impairment loss on any of our
comraunities.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

{Deollars.in thousands, except per share daia)

NOTE B-—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months
or less are considered to be cash equivalents. We maintain our cash and
cash equivalents with various financiat institutions: Some of our account .
balances exceed the.amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation, and as a result we are subject to concentration of credit risk.
We do not believe this risk is significant as we periodically review the
performance of these institutions. To date we have not experienced any -
losses due to such risk.

Cash in Escrow

..Cash in escrow consists of amounts held by mortgage lenders and
restricted under the terms of various loan agreements to be used for
payment of property taxes and insurance as well as interest expense and
property improvements. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, we maintained
escrow balances of $2,023 and $2,899, respectively. -

Accounts Receivable—Tenant

Tenant accounts receivable are reported net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts: Management’s estimate of the allowance is based on .
historical collection experience and a review.of the current status of tenant
accounts receivable. It is reasonably possible that management’s estimate of
the allowance will change.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include fees and costs to obtain our
mortgages, other hote payable, line of credit-affiliate and line of credit-non
ffiliate. These costs are amortized over the term of the respective loans. As
t December 31, 2006, deferred financing costs balance relates to the fees
nd costs to obtain our mortgage financing and line of credit non-affiliate.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT-TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Other Assets

Other assets include deferred offering costs of $3,520 and $2,885,.
respectively, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, incurred-in connection with
our offering of common stock. These costs are included in other assets in
the accompanying balance sheets and are deferred and will be deducted .
from the gross offering proceeds of our offering.’

-

Offering Costs

Costs of $4,102 in connection with our offering have been deducted
from offering proceeds at December 31, 2006. These deducted costs
primarily related to selling commissions, deater manager fees and expense
reimbursements, legal fees, and prospectus printing and mailing costs, and
were recorded as a deduction to the additional paid-in-capital.

Revenue Recognition

Tenant leases are classified as operating leases. Rental income
attributable to leases is recorded when due from tenants and is recognized
monthly as it is earned, which is not materiatly different from a straight-line
basis. Qur leases with the tenants for the rental of an apartment unit-are
generally year-to-year, renewable upon consent of both parties on an
annual basis. Advanced receipts of rental income are deferred and classified
as liabilities until earned. Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis.

Income Taxes

We have made an election to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), commencing with the
taxable year ended December 31, 2005. Our management believes that we-
are organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a
REIT, and we intend to continue to be organized and operate insuch a
manner in the foreseeable future so that we will remain qualified as a REIT
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

for federal-income tax purposes. As a REIT, we generally will not be
required to pay federal corporate income taxes on our taxable income to
the extent it is currently distributed to stockholders.

Accordingly, we have not recorded any currént or deferred taxes for
the period ended December 31, 2006. However, qualification and taxation
as a REIT depends upon our ability to meet the various on-going
requirements imposed by the Code relating to the sources of our gross
income, the nature of our assets, the amount of our distributions and the
diversity of our stock ownership, among other requirements. Accordingly,
no assurance can be given that we will be able to operate in 2 manner to
remain qualified as a REIT. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable
year, we-will be subject to federal income tax (including any applicable:
alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at the applicable corporate
tax rates. Finally, in order to qualify as a REIT, we cannot have at the end
of any taxable year any undistributed carnings and profits that are
attributable to a non-REIT taxable year. We do not believe that we have
any non-REIT earnings and profits at December 31, 2006, and therefore we
believe that we satisfy this re.quirement.'

During the twelve month period ended December 31, 2006, we
generated a net operating loss of approximately $10,719. Additionally,
during the period beginning May 15, 2003 and ending December 31, 2005,
we generated passive activity loss carry forwards of $22,034, The net
operating loss from 2006 may be carried forward for up to 20 years. The
passive activity losses may be carried forward indefinitely. The deferred tax
assets attributable to these items were established by us using a federal tax
rate of 34% and a state and local tax rate of 6%. However, a corresponding
valuation allowance was established at December 31, 2006, in an amount
equal to each deferred tax asset due to the uncertainty as to whether we will
be able to use the loss carry forwards.

We acquired properties prior to January 1, 2003, the first day of the
first taxable year for which we qualified as a REIT (the “REIT
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BOSTON - CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continited)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Commencement Date”). If we recognize gain on the disposition of any of
these assets during the 10-year period beginning on the REIT
Commencement Date, then we will be subject to tax at the highest regular
corporate rate on the lesser of the “Built-In Gain” or the amount of gain
recognized on the disposition of such asset. It may be possjble to reduce the,
amount of such income subject to corporate level tax by certain loss
carryforwards of ours. Built-in-Gain for this purpose means the fair market
value of the asset as of the REIT Commencement Date over our adjusted
tax basis in the asset as of the REIT Commencement Date. We would be
subject to this tax liability even if we qualify and maintain our status as a
REIT.

The net carrying cost of our real estate assets in the consolidated
balance sheets exceeds our net tax basis by approximately $6,175 as of
December 31, 2006. .

L3

Earnings Per Share - o

Earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the period.
R . ) 1

Use of Estimates ‘ . . . .

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accouriting’
principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. '

Reclassifications

- Certain amounts in the 2005 and 2004 period have been reclassified to
conform to the 2006 presentation. These reclassifications have not changed
the results of operations or stockholders’ equity.

i
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006
{Dollars-in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE B—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continved) ,
Redeemable Common Stack

As of December 31, 2006, our share redemption program provided that
redemptions are.limited to those that can be funded with proceeds raised
from our distribution reinvestment plan.

As the use of proceeds raised in the current calendar year from the
distribution reinvestment plan is outside of our control, those proceeds are
considered to be temporary equity under Accounting Series Release
No. 268, Presentation in Financial Statements of Redcemable Preferred Stock.
Therefore, we have included an amount equal to proceeds from shares
issued through our distribution reinvestment plan in the current calendar
year, less the amount of redemptions previously funded with such proceeds,
as redeemable commeon stock in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 no
shares had been tendered for redemption.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretatlon No. 48, or FIN 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”. This interpretation clarifies
the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s
financial statements and prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return.
FIN 48 also provides guidance on description, classification, interest and
penaltics, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, in which the
impact of adoption should be accounted for.as a cumulative-cffect
adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings. We are currently
evaluating the effect, if any, that this pronouncement will have on our
future financial results. : -
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT-TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

{Dollars-in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE C—FINANCING
Mortgage Notes Payable

. Alt of our mortgage debt outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2005
is fixed rate debt secured by mortgages and deeds of trust on our apartment
communities. Qur mortgage debt outstanding at December 31, 2006 and

2005 is $132,468 and $132,525, respectively, and is detailed below.:

2006 2005

Mortgage notes payable to Berkshire Mortgage
Finance Limited Partnership. The notes bear
interest at 4.67% and mature on January 1; 2008.
Monthly interest only payments of $147 are
- required beginning February 1,2003. Upon
maturity of the fixed rate note, we can either
make a balloon payment for any unpaid
principal or convert the note to a new fixed or
variable rate note with a final maturity of
December 31, 2012, subject to certain covenants, '
The notes are secured by first mortgages and
deeds of trust on the communities in.the . ‘ _ :
Seattle portfolio, ...............oooiilt ... $3785 % 37850

Mortgage notes payable to Berkshire/WAFRA
Mezzanine Debt Investors Foreign Fund. The
notes bear interest at 129% and mature on IR
December 31, 2007. Monthly principal and S !
interest payments of $86 are required beginning
February 1, 2003 with a balloon payment due at -
maturity. Amortization is calculated basedona. .~ "
25 year term. The loan can be extended for an .
additional one-year term provided that no event oL ]
" of default exists and we pay a 1% extension fee. 7,930 7,987
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE C—FINANCING (Continued) )
2006 2005

Mortgage notes payable to Berkshire Mortgage
Finance Limited Partnership, The notes bear
interest at rates from 4.26% to 4.32% and
mature on June 1, 2010. Monthly interest only
payments of $126 are required beginning July 1,
2003. A balloon payment is due at maturity. The
notes are secured by mortgages and deeds of
trust on the communities in the Jacksonville . .
portfolio. . ........ ... ... 35374 35,374

Mortgage notes payable to Berkshire Mortgage
Finance Limited Partnership. The notes bear
interest at 4.52% and mature on June 1, 2010.
Monthly interest only payments of $148 are
required beginning July 1, 2003. Upon maturity
of the fixed rate note, we can either make a
balloon payment for any unpaid principal or
convert the note to anew fixed or variable rate
note with a final maturity of December 31, 2013,
subject to certain covenants. The notes are
secured by mortgages and deeds of trust on the
communities in the Portland portfolio. . ....... 39,333 39,333

Mortgage notes payable to Deutsche Bank

Berkshire Mortgage Inc. The note bears interest

at 5.14% and matures November 1, 2014,

Monthly interest onty payments of $53 are

required beginning December 1, 2005. A balloon

payment is due at maturity. The note is secured

by a mortgage and deed of trust on the Plano

COMMUAILY. . ..ottt aans . 11,981 11,981
' ‘ $132468 $132,525

F-19




BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES.TQ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31; 2006

{Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE C—FINANCING (Continued) . i

- The weighted average effective interest rate on our mortgage debt as
of December 31, 2006 and 2005 was 5.00% and 5. Ol%, respectwely

Repayment Schedule

Qur mortgage debt matures at various times through November 1,
2014. As of December 31, 2006, scheduled prmmpal payments through
maturity are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2007 .o e $ 7930
2§ S VO U SO .37,850
2000 e .=
2000 L e e i 74,707
2000 . e e, e e —
Thereafter. .. ..ot i e e e iaaen,y e 11,981

$132,468

An affiliate of our joint venture partner who oversees the operation of
the Seattle communities has provided certain guarantees on notes payable
related to the Seattle communities. The total amount outstanding on the
notes payable as of December 31, 2006 was $45,780. R :

Affiliates of our joint venture partner of the Jacksonville communities
have provided certain guarantees on notes payable related to the ‘
Jacksonville communities. The total amount outstanding on the notes
payable as of December 31, 2006 was $16, 274.

Other Note Payable

In September 2005, we borrowed $5 556 evidenced by a note payable.
The note was secured by the joint venture interests of our subsidiaries in
our Plano apartment community and was guaranteed by an affiliate. The
note was interest only and bore interest at Libor plus 300 basis points.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE C—FINANCING (Continued}

Interest was payable monthly to the extent of cash flow from the Plano
community, and any unpaid interest accrued. The note was scheduled to
mature on July 3, 2006. Under the terms of the note, we extended the
maturity date to January 1, 2007 for a fee '6f $23.'0On December 7, 2006, we
repaid the note and all accrued interest with proceeds from our line of
credit-non affiliate. For the penods ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 -
intérest of $421 and $117, respectlvely, was mcurred and $0 and $6,
respectlvely, rcmamed payable

Line of Credit—Affiliate

We had a $60,000 line of credit with an affiliate secured by our
interests in the Seattle, Jacksonville, and Portland portfolios, and 20,000
outstanding shares held by an affiliate of the Company. The line of credit -
bore interest at 9.5% and had a maturity date of January 1, 2007. Interest
accrued in arrears and was due and payable with respect to each calendar
quarter to the.extent of cash available-for debt service for the current
quarter. In the event cash was not available for debt service in the current
quarter, interest was accrued and added to principal. Additional interest at
5.3% was due and payable with respect-to each calendar quarter to the
extent of cash available for debt service after payment of interest. Any
unpaid additional interest would accumulate but would not be added to
principal. Unpaid additional interest was payable quarterly solely from cash
available for debt service after payment of the current quarter interest and
current quarter additional interest. Any unpaid additional interest not paid
on or before the maturity date was not due or payable. As of December 31,
2005, $56,597 was outstanding on the line. On December 7, 2006, we repaid
the line of credit—affiliate principal and accrued interest with a ‘
combination of proceeds from our public offering and our non affiliate line
of credit. As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 interest of $5,008, 5,377
and $5,466, respectively, was incurred and $0 and $366, respectively,
remained payable at December 31, 2006 and 2005, During the year ended
December 31, 2006 additional interest of $144 was incurred and paid.
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BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE C—FINANCING (Continued)
Line of Credit—Non Affiliate :

On December 6, 2006, we closed on a $45,000 line of credit withan
unaffiliated lender. An initial draw has been made tq repay the line of
credit-affiliate and other note payable. After repayment of the initial draw
the line.of credit may. be used for the purchase of additional propernes The
line of credit is unsecured, bears interest at varying contract rates ranging
from the 30-day LIBOR plus 225 basis points (which was approximately
7.60% as of December 31, 2006) to prime plus 100 basis points (which was
9.25% at December 31, 2006) and matures on January 1, 2008. Under the
terms of our credit agreement, we are obligated to utilize all net proceeds
from our common stock offering to repay any amounts outstanding after
the payment of (i} amounts necessary to pay a maximum dividend of 6%
per annum (if authorized by our board of directors), (ii) costs necessary to
maintain our REIT status, (iii) reasonable operating reserves and (iv) the
asset management fee payable monthly to our advisor. As of December 31,
2006, $38,090 was outstanding on the line of credit and interest of $210 had
been incurred and remained payable

NOTE D—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Line of Credit—Aﬁifiate

During 2006 we incurred and paid to our affiliate a $100 fee as
consideration for extending the line of credit affiliate maturity date to
January 1, 2007. In December 2006, we repaid the outstanding principal
balance of $56,597 and accrued interest (see note D). During the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 interest of $5,008, 5,377 and
$5,466, respectively, was incurred and $366 remained payable at
December 31, 2005. During the year ended December 31, 2006, additional
interest of $144 was.incurred and paid.
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NOTE D—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Portfolio Management Fees

During the period May 15, 2003 through December 31, 2004, an .
affiliate earned portfolio management fees of $531 in coninection with..
management of the Seattle, Portland and Jacksonville portfolios. These fees
were included in portfollo management fees on the consolidated statements
of operations durlng the respective periods. The fee is based on .25% of
total development costs, defined as total equity investment and the amount
of the original mortgage payable for each portfolio. Durmg the fourth
quarter of 2005, the affiliate waived all future portfolio management fees
retroactive to January 1, 2005. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, $531 of
fees related to the period May 15, 2003 through December 31, 2004 remain
payable to the affiliate and are mcluded in due to related party on the
consolidated balance sheets.

-

Offering, Acquisition, Organizational and Other Costs

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, an affiliate paid
or advanced funds to pay $1,863 and $1,953, respectively, for various costs
assoctated with operating the Company. For the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005 the total amount reimbursed to the affiliate was $11 and $0,
respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 we
incurred acquisition fees and expenses payable to an affiliate of $446 and
$150, respectively for the purchase of various communities. For the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 the total amounts paid to the affiliate
for acquisition costs were $414 and $0, respectively. As of December 31,
2006 and 2005, the total amount due to related parties for offering,
acquisition, organization and other costs is $4,809 and $2,926, respectively.
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NOTE D—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) T
Advisors Fees

We have ‘executed an adv1sory services agreement with the Advisor to
pay the following fees: :

Orgamzatzon and Offering Expenses. 'We will reimburse the Advisor
for all organization and offering expenses advanced by the Advisor up
to a maximum of 2.25% of Gross ()ffermg Proceeds. Amounts that the
Adpvisor has incurred to date are mcluded in the offermg, acquisition,
organization and other costs sect:on above.

Asset Management Fee. 'We w111 pay the Advisor as compensatlon for .
advisory services rendered to us a monthly asset management fee in an
amount equal to 1/12" of 0.75% of our Real Estate Asset Value as
defined in the agreement as of the end of the preceding month. During
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Advisor earned asset
management fees of $1,461 and $1,368, respectively. As of-
December 31, 2006 and 2005, the amounts remaining payable to the

" affiliate were $0 and $1,368, respectively. Our affiliate has been
entitled to this fee since inception, but has waived its right to all asset
management fees from the time of mceptmn through December 31,
2004.

Acquisition Fees and Expenses. We will pay the Advisor; as. .
compensation payable for services rendered in connection with the.
investigation, selection and acquisition (by purchase, investment or
exchange) of Properties, acquisition fees in an amount equal to up to-.
2.7%.of Gross Offering Proceeds and acquisition expenses in an
amount equal to up to 0.5% of Gross Offering Proceeds. Amounts that
the Advisor has incurred to date are included in the offering,
acquisition, and organization costs section above.

Subordinated Disposition Fee. 1f the Advisor or an affiliate provides a
substantial amount of the services (as determined by a majority of our
Independent Directors) in connection with the sale of one or more
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NOTE D—RELATED PARTY.TRANSACTIONS (Continued) .

properties, we will pay the Advisor or an affiliate a subordinated
-disposition fee equal to the lesser of (i) one-half of a competitive real

" estate commission, or (ii) 3.0% of the sales prlce of such property or
propertiés. The Subordinated Disposition Fee will be pald only if
stockholders have received total dlwdends in an amount equal to 160%
of the aggregate invested capital plus a 6.0% annual cumulative non-
compounded return on their net invested capital. No such fees have
lieen paid or are payable from inception lhrough December 31, 2006.

‘ Subordmated Share of Net Sale Proceeds. A subordinated share of net
sales proceeds will be payable to the Advisor in an amount equal to

" 15.0% of net sales proceeds remaining after the stockholders have
received distributions equal to the sum of the Stockholders’ 6.0%
Return arid 100% of invested capital. No such fees have been paid or
are payable from 1ncept10n through December 31, 2006.

Subordinated Incentive Listing Fee. . Upon listing on a national
securities exchange registered under Section 6 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or a national
market system registered under Section 11QA of the Exchange Act
{“Listing™) the Advisor will be entitled to a subordinated incentive
listing fee in an amount equal to 10.0% of the amount by which (i} the
market value of our outstanding stock, measured by taking the average
closing price or average of bid and asked price, as the cause may be,
over a perigd of 30 consecutive days during which the stock is traded,
with such period begmnmg 180 days after Listing (“Market Value”),

~ plus the total of all dlstrnbutlons required to be paid to stockholders
from our'inception until the date of Listing, exceeds (ii) the sum of
(A) 100% of the invested capital and (B) the total distributions
required to be paid to the stockholders in order to pay the
Stockholders’ 6.0% Return from inception through the date of Listing.
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NOTE D—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Dealer Manager Fees

Our securities are being sold through an affiliate of our advisor, which
is a registered broker dealer (the “Dealer Manager”). The Dealer Manager
receives a selling commission of up to 7% of the public offering price of the
shares sold, excluding the sale of 20,000 shares to an affiliate and shares
issued from our distribution reinvestment plan. The Dealer Manager also
reccives a fee of up to 2% of the public offering price of the shares sold,’
excluding the sale of 20, 000 shares to an affiliate and including shares issued
from our distribution reinvestment plan, as compensation for acting as
Dealer Manager and for expenses incurred in connection with coordinating
sales efforts, training of personnel and generally performing “wholesaling”
functions. In connection with our sale of 3,663,817 shares of common stock
as of December 31, 2006, we incurred $2,537 in selling commissions, all of
which had been paid. In connection with the sale of 3,663,817 shares of
common stock and the issuance of 17,789 shares from our distribution
reinvestment.plan as of December 31, 2006, we incurred $732 in dealer
manager fees, of which $7 remained payable at December 31, 2006.

NOTE E—FEES TO OUR JOINT VENTURE PARTNERS

Our joint venture partners and their affiliates are entitled to various fees as
follows:

Incentive Management Fees

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, incentive
management fees of $470, $263 and $32, respectively, were incurred to
our joint venture partner of the Seattle Communities. These amounts
are included in property operating costs on the consolidated
statements of operations. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the
accrued and unpaid incentive management fees due to our joint

* venture partner were $35 and $40, respectively, and are included in

F-26




BOSTON CAPITAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
December 31, 2006

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

NOTE E—FEES TO OUR JOINT VENTURE PARTNERS (Continued)

accounts payable and accrued expenses on the conselidated balance
sheets. .

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, a rate lock
fee payment of $24, $24 and $24, respectively, was paid to our joint
venture member of the Portland portfolio. The affiliate is entitled to be
paid 0.06% per annum of the principal of the first mortgage loans from
the cash flow of the Portland communities as compensation for its
agreement to assume 100% of the risk of loss on the rate lock deposit
on.the first mortgage debt paid to the first mortgage holder. These
amounts are included in property operating costs on the consolidated
statemnents of operations. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the
accrued and unpaid rate lock fees due to our joint venture partner
were $2 and are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses on
the consolidated balance sheets.

Net Capital Proceeds to Joint Venture Partners

Upon disposition, and only after we have received certain priority
returns, our joint venture partners may be entitled to advisory service
fees and portions of net capitai proceeds, as defined in our joint
venture agreements and detailed below, :

Jacksonville Communities—The joint venture partrier will receive
6.25% of net capital proceeds. Affiliates of the joint venture partner
will also receive an advisory services fee equal to 20% of our 93.75% of
any net capital proceeds as defined in the related joint venture.
agreement. :

. Seattle and Portland Communities—Affiliates of the joint venture
partners will receive 25% of any net capital proceeds as defined in the
related joint venture agreements.
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NOTE E—FEES TO OUR JOINT VENTURE PARTNERS (Continued)

Plano Community—The joint venture partner will receive 40% of any
net capital proceeds as defined in the related joint venture agreement.

NOTE F—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock

In January 2006, we issued 173 shares of 12% Series A Cumulatwe
Non-Voting Preferred Stock raising net proceeds of $87. The outstanding
preferred shares are subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at any time
following January 30, 2007 at a price of $500 per share plus all accrued and
unpaid dividends. . .. ..

On August 4, 2006, our board of directors declared distributions
payable to preferred stockholders of record as of the close of business on
June 30, 2006. Sich preferred share distributions cover the period
January 30, 2006 through June 30, 2006 and total $24.99 per share of
preferred stock, which is equivalent to an annual distribution rate of 12.0%.
The distribution was paid on August 21, 2006 and totaled $4. In
December 2006 our board of directors declared distributions payable to
preferred stockholders of record as of the close of business on
December 31, 2006. Such preferred share distributions cover the period
July 1, 2006 through December 31, 2006 and totaled $5, which is equivalent
to an annual distribution rate of 12.0%. The dlstnbutlon remained payable
at December 31, 2006.

In December 2006 our board of directors declared distributions
payable to preferred stockholders of record as of the close of business on
February 2, 2007. Such preferred share distributions cover the period
January 1, 2007 through February 15, 2007 and total $7.50 per share of
preferred stock, which is equivalent to an annual distribution rate of 12.0%.
The distribution was paid on February 15, 2007 and totaled $1. In
December 2006 our board of directors also authorized a redemption, as of
February 15, 2007, of all outstanding shares of preferred stock, plus any
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NOTE F—STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY. (Continued) r o,

accrued and unpaid distributions, at $500 per share. The redemption was
pald on February:15, 2007 and totaled $87.
Common Stock Cee . ;e

At December 31, 2006, we had 3,663,817 shares of common stock, sold
from our offering, outstanding valued at $36,638 of which 20,000 shares are
owned by an affiliate of the Company.. At December 31, 2006, we had also
issued 17,789 shares of common stock pursuant to our distribution | .
reinvestment plan at $9.50 per share.

Qur board of directors declared monthly distributions payable to daily
record date common stockholders beginning with the month ended July 31,
2006. The distributions are equal.to.an annual distribution rate of
approximately 6.0% and are paid on.about the 21¥ of the following month.
Total distributions declared as of December 31, 2006 were $553 of which
$169 was reinvested pursuant to our distribution reinvestment, plan and
$177 remained payable. The characterization for income tax reporting
purposes of the distributions paid to our common stockholders in 2006 was.
return of capital. - . S ’ 3

Subsequent to December 31, 2006, out board of directors déclared
distributions to daily record holders for,the months of January 2007,
February 2007 and March 2007, payable February 21, 2007, March 21, 2007
and April 23, 2007 equal to,an annual distribution rate of approximately - -
6.0%.

- o, e, ) v

Stock Optlon Plan

We have establlshed a stock opuon plan (“Stock Optxon Plan”) for our
non-employee directors. The Stock Option Plan authorizes the grant of
stock options that do not qualify as incentive stock options under,
ection 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, or Non-Qualified Stock -,
ptions. The exercise price of stock options may not be less than the fair
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NOTE F—STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Continued). -

market value of a share on the day the option is granted. The total number
of shares subject to awards granted under. the Stock Option Plan may- not
exceed 200,000. At December 31, 2006, 35,000 options to purchase shares of
our common stock were outstanding under the Stock Option Plan of which
11,000 options were exercisable.

During 2006, options to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock were
granted to our directors. Options granted under the Stock Option Plan are
exercisable at'the fair market value on the date of grant and, subject to
termination of directorship, expire ten years from the date of the grant, are
not transferable other than at death, and vest ratably over a four year
period commcncmg from the date of grant.

The estimated fair value of the common stock options, Wthh was
estimated by reference to Black-Scholes-Merton formula, was immaterial at
December 31, 2006. Therefore the fair value of options has not been
recorded at December 31, 2006. Since the Stock Option Plan has
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and since
the assumptions used in such model, particularly the volatility assumption, '
are subject to significant judgment and variability, the actual value of the
options could vary materially from management’s estimate. »

_As of December-31, 2006, the weighted average remaining contractual
term of thé options granted was 8.75 years and the weighted average
remaining contractual term of the exercisable options was 8.58 years.

NOTE G—FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In determining fair vatue of its financial instruments, we use available
market information and appropriate valuation methodologies, such as
discounted cash flow analysis. All methods of assessing fair-value result in a
general approximation of value, and such value may never actually be .
realized. - ‘ S

4
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NOTE G—FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Cash, restricted-cash and accounts receivable—tenants are financial
assets with carrying values that approximate fair value. Line of credit—
affiliate, interest payable on line of credit—affiliate, notes payable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses and due to related party are financial
liabilities with carrying values that approximate fair value. C

NOTE H—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS )

We sold 1,294,761 shares of our common stock between January 1,
2007 and March 22, 2007, resulting in gross proceeds to us of $12,948 and,
in addition, issued 27,621 shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment
plan.

On February 15, 2007, we redeemed all 173 shares of our 12% Series A
Cumulative Non-Voting Preferred Stock. The shares were issued in a
private placement for the purpose of having at least 100 sharcholders to
satisfy one of our REIT qualifications.

In February 2007, our board of directors approved a plan to restructure
the manper in which we hold our assets, by converting to what is commonly
referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To
effect the UPREIT restructuring, we plan to form a new directly and -
indirectly wholly-owned partnership, Boston Capital REIT Operating
Partnership, or the operating partnership, which following the restructuring
will hold substantially all of our assets and liabilities, including the
assumption of the obligations under our line of credit-non affiliate. After
the consummation of the UPREIT restructuring, we anticipate that we will
owm, either directly or indirectly, all of the general partnership interests and
limited partnership interests of cur operating partnership. In the future, we
may issue limited partnership units to third parties from time to time in
connection with acquisitions of apartment communities. Following the
UPREIT restructuring, substantially all of our business will be conducted
through the operating partnership and our primary asset will be our
interests in the operating partnership.
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NOTE H—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

The UPREIT restructuring is contingent on our ability to secure
consents from third party lenders and others with whom we have
contractual relationships. Although we believe that we will be able to obtain
all necessary consents and approvals for the UPREIT restructuring, the
grant of those consents and approvals is not in our control and therefore
there can be no assurance that the UPREIT restructuring will be
completed. The UPREIT restructuring will not require stockholder
approval. . . . .

NOTE I—QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

ended ended ended ended
. 12/31/06 19/30/06 06/30/06 03/31/06
Total revenue . .............. . $6957 $6921 $6747 § 6575
Netloss .t iivinnnoonnn. o $(2929) $(2,037) $(1,986) $(2,071)

Loss per share-basicand dilured . $ (1) $§ () $§ (70) § (104)

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter-
ended . ended ended ended

- 12/31/05 ' 09/30/05 - 06/30/05 03/31/05
Total revenué:........... . $6500 $6039 §$5819 $5703"
Netloss ........ T $(1,957) .$(1,898). $(1,692) $(1,744)

Loss per share-basicand diluted .  $  (98) -§ _(95)*$_(85) $ (87)
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Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
' NOTES TO SCHEUDLE 111
December 31, 2006

(Amounts in Thousands)

Reconciliation of total cost:

Balance at December 31,2003 . ... oo nn $157,552
Additions during the period:
Improvements ................. e T 5010
Balance at December 31,2004 ... ... ... ..o ~$162,562
Additions during the period: _ :
Acquisitions .. ... e -+ 14,527
Improvements .............ovvvennan, P 1,473
Balance at December 31,2005 ......... e . $178,562
Additions during the period: : _ .
IMPrOVEMENTS . ..o\ evrveteeenereeeeeiennnen e 1,494
Balance at December 31,2006 ............. e e ' $180,056
Reconciliation of accumulated depreciation: , -
Balance at December 31,2003 .......... e e $- 2,377
Additions during the period: . . -
Depreciation eXPENSE. ... vvvevinvacnrareasrsansns 3,572
Balance at December 31,2004 ......... PO "$ 5,949
Additions during the period: - .
Depreciation eXpense. .. .....ovveene i ' 4,110
Balance at December 31,2005 ... PO ~ $ 10,059
Additions during the period: -
Depreciation expense.................. e 4,594
Balance at December 31,2005 . ... ..o iiiiiiniann. $ 14,653
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T .+ Exhibit 31.1

" CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

[, John P. Mﬁnning, certify that: ' ’ .

1.

I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10 K of Boston Capltal
Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made; not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;’

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information inctuded in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{¢e)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the pericd covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on
our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,




. to the registrant’s auditors and the andit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design
or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summanze and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not matenal that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
!"internal control over financial reporting. -

March 29, 2007 g *  /s/ JOHN P, MANNING

John P. Manning
- Chief Executive Officer




Lo . - Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TQ RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 15D-14(A) OF
_ THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Marc N. Teal, cemfy that : '-": ‘

1.

I have reviewed thls annual report on Form 10 K of Boston Cap1tal
Real Estate Investment Trust Inc,;

Ty

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contam any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made; not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report; :

+

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
vegistrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls
and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal
contrel over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is

‘reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on
our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,




to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design
or operation of internal controi over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to.,
record, process, summanze and report financial mformanon and’

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the reglstram ]
internal control over financial reporting. -+ - -

March 29, 2007- /s! MARCN. TEAL
' : Marc N. Teal
Chief Financial Officer

-




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002*

“In connection with the Annual Report of Boston Capital Real Estate
Investment Trust, Inc. (the “Company™) on Form 10-K for the period
ended December 31; 2006, as filed, with the Securities and Exchange .
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), [, John P. Manning, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that to the best of my knowledge, after due inquiry: -

(1) The Report fully complies with;the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company. :

Date:
March 29, 2007 . : s/ JOHN P. MANNING

John P. Manning
. Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or
.other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version
of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to
the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO:SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002*

- In connection with the Annual Report of Boston Capital Real Estate
Investment Trust, Iric. (the “Company”) on'FormA0-K for the period
ended December 31, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange -
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report?), I, Marc N. Teal, Chief .-
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C!section-
1350, as adopted pursuant to Séction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of *
2002, that to the best of my knowledge, after due inquiry: -

(1) + The Report fully complies with'the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and " :

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations

of the Company.
Date: -
March 29, 2007 . o /sy MARCN. TEAL  * - ..
S Marc N. Teal
"+ - Chief Financial Officer

*  Asigned original of this written statement required:by Section-906, or
. other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting
- the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version
..of this written‘statement required by.Section 906, has been provided to
the Company:and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




Corporate and Shareholder Information

Corporate Headquarters:
Boston Capital Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc.
¢fo Boston Capital Corporation
One Boston Place
Suite 2100
Boston, MA 02108
1-800-955-2733
www.bostoncapital.com

Annual Meeting:

Boston Capital REIT's Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at 3 p.m. local
time on Tuesday, May 29, 2007 at Goodwin Procter LLP, Exchange Place,

53 State Street, Boston, MA 02109,

Transfer Agent: Independent Auditors: Legal Counsel:

ACS Securities Services, Inc.  Ernst & Young LLP Goodwin Procter LLP
3988 N. Central Expressway 200 Clarendon Street Exchange Place
Building 5, 6th Floor Boston, MA 02116 Boston, MA 02109

Dallas, TX 75204

Form 10-K:

Boston Capital REIT's annual report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission {the SEC) is enclosed within this annual report. Additional
copies are available at no charge upon written request to Boston Capital REIT
Investor Services at the address below. The SEC maintains a web site located at
www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements and other information
regarding the Company that is filed electronically with the SEC. In addition,

the Company makes available free of charge on its Internet website,
www.bostoncapital.com, the Company's annual report on Form 10-K.

Certifications:

We filed the CEO and CFO certifications regarding the quality of the Company's
public disclosure as exhibits to our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006 with the SEC, as required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Questions about Boston Capital REIT or your account should be
directed to:
Boston Capital Investor Services
One Boston Place
Suite 2100
Boston, MA 02108
1-800-955-2733
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Boston Capital

One Boston Place
Boston, MA 02108

1-800-955-2713
www.bostoncapital.com




